Therapeutic Potential of Rutin-Bound Glucose Carbon Dots for

Alzheimer's Disease



Author Sana Khan Regn Number 00000321064

Supervisor

Dr. Aneeqa Noor

DEPARTMENT OF BIOMEDICAL ENGINEERING AND SCIENCES SCHOOL OF MECHANICAL & MANUFACTURING ENGINEERING NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCES AND TECHNOLOGY ISLAMABAD AUGUST, 2023

Therapeutic Potential of Rutin-Bound Glucose Carbon Dots for Alzheimer's Disease Author Sana Khan

Regn Number 00000321064

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of MS Biomedical Sciences

Thesis Supervisor:

Dr. Aneeqa Noor

Thesis Supervisor's Signature: ____

Assistant, of Biomedical Engg & Schwarz Department of Biomedical & Manufacturing School of Mechanical & Manufacturing Engineering (SMME), NUST, Islamabad

Ane

DEPARTMENT OF BIOMEDICAL ENGINEERING AND SCIENCES SCHOOL OF MECHANICAL & MANUFACTURING ENGINEERING NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCES AND TECHNOLOGY,

ISLAMABAD AUGUST, 2023



National University of Sciences & Technology (NUST) MASTER'S THESIS WORK

We hereby recommend that the dissertation prepared under our supervision by: <u>Sana Khan (00000321064)</u> Titled: <u>Therapeutic Potential of Rutin-Bound Glucose Carbon Dots for Alzheimer's Disease</u> be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of <u>MS in Biomedical Sciences</u> degree.

Examination Committee Members

1.	Name: Adeeb Shehzad	Signature:	Kon
2.	Name: Muhammad Asim Waris	Signature:	S73 Wards.
3.	Name: Saima Zafar	Signature:	C a c
Supervisor: Aneeqa Noor	Signature: Brief _		
	Date: <u>09 - Aug - 2023</u>		
GL		<u>09 - Aug - 2023</u>	
Head of Department		Date	
COUNTERSINGED			
<u>09 - Aug - 2023</u>	Je int	_	
Date	Dean/Principa	al	

THESIS ACCEPTANCE CERTIFICATE

Certified that final copy of MS/MPhil thesis written by **Regn No. 00000321064 Sana Khan** of **School of Mechanical & Manufacturing Engineering (SMME) (SMME)** has been vetted by undersigned, found complete in all respects as per NUST Statues/Regulations, is free of plagiarism, errors, and mistakes and is accepted as partial fulfillment for award of MS/MPhil degree. It is further certified that necessary amendments as pointed out by GEC members of the scholar have also been incorporated in the said thesis titled. Therapeutic Potential of Rutin-Bound Glucose Carbon Dots for Alzheimer's Disease

Signature: Brieg

Name (Supervisor): Aneeqa Noor

Date: 09 - Aug - 2023

Signature (HOD):

Date: 09 - Aug - 2023

Date: 09 - Aug - 2023

Declaration

I certify that this research work titled "*Therapeutic Potential of Rutin-Bound Glucose Carbon Dots for Alzheimer's Disease*" is my own work. The work has not been presented elsewhere for assessment. The material that has been used from other sources it has been properly acknowledged / referred.

Signature of Student Sana Khan Regn No. 00000321064

MS Biomedical Sciences

Proposed Certificate for Plagiarism

It is certified that PhD/M.Phil/MS Thesis Titled <u>"Therapeutic Potential of Rutin-Bound Glucose Carbon</u> <u>Dots for Alzheimer's Disease</u>" by <u>Sana Khan</u> has been examined by us. We undertake the follows:

- a. Thesis has significant new work/knowledge as compared already published or are under consideration to be published elsewhere. No sentence, equation, diagram, table, paragraph or section has been copied verbatim from previous work unless it is placed under quotation marks and duly referenced.
- b. The work presented is original and own work of the author (i.e. there is no plagiarism). No ideas, processes, results or words of others have been presented as Author own work.
- c. There is no fabrication of data or results which have been compiled/analyzed.
- d. There is no falsification by manipulating research materials, equipment or processes, or changing or omitting data or results such that the research is not accurately represented in the research record.
- e. The thesis has been checked using TURNITIN (copy of originality report attached) and found within limits as per HEC plagiarism Policy and instructions issued from time to time.

<u>Name & Signa</u>	ture of Supervisor
Signature:	Dr. Andecta Toolesson Assistant Professon Department of Biomedical Engg & Sciences School of Mechanical & Manufacturing Engineering (SMME), NUST, Islamabad

Copyright Statement

- Copyright in text of this thesis rests with the student author. Copies (by any process) either in full, or of extracts, may be made only in accordance with instructions given by the author and lodged in the Library of NUST School of Mechanical & Manufacturing Engineering (SMME). Details may be obtained by the Librarian. This page must form part of any such copies made. Further copies (by any process) may not be made without the permission (in writing) of the author.
- The ownership of any intellectual property rights which may be described in this thesis is vested in NUST School of Mechanical & Manufacturing Engineering, subject to any prior agreement to the contrary, and may not be made available for use by third parties without the written permission of the SMME, which will prescribe the terms and conditions of any such agreement.
- Further information on the conditions under which disclosures and exploitation may take place is available from the Library of NUST School of Mechanical & Manufacturing Engineering, Islamabad.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Almighty ALLAH (SWT) for bestowing willpower as well as direction in conducting this research project.

I am profusely thankful to my beloved parents, siblings and friends for being my support system, both morally and emotionally, for helping me get over my disappointments, encouraging me and just being there for me through thick and thin, throughout my research work.

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Aneeqa Noor, for her continuous support in my research, for her motivation and massive knowledge. Her demonstrative supervision, incredible help and way of guidance are keys to the essence of this research work.

I would also like to show gratitude to all those who deserve to be appreciated for this research work but left unmentioned.

Dedicated to the memory of my mother, who always believed in my capabilities. You are the reason I've made it this far.

Table of Contents

Declaration	i
Proposed Certificate for Plagiarism	ii
Copyright Statement	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	xi
List of Figures	vii
Abbreviations	vi
Abstract	vii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Epidemiology	1
1.2 Etiology	
1.3 Diagnosis	
1.4 Genetics	6
1.5 Comorbidity	7
1.6 Pathophysiology	7
1.7 Treatment	
1.7.1 Pharmacotherapy	9
1.7.1.1 Cholinesterase Inhibitors	9
1.7.1.2 Anti-inflammatory Agents	
1.7.2 Lifestyle Alterations	
1.8 Role of Nanotechnology	
1.9 Synthesizing Carbon Dots	
1.10 Application of Carbon Dots in Treating CNS Diseases	
1.11 Natural Flavonoids as Treatment	
1.12 Protective Effects of Rutin	
1.12.1 Central Nervous System	
1.12.2 Antiarthritic Effects	
1.12.3 Endocrine System	
1.12.4 Cardiovascular System	
1.12.5 Gastrointestinal System	
1.12.6 Respiratory System	
1.13 Aims and Objectives	
CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODOLOGY	

2.1 Ethical Approval	22
2.2 Chemicals	22
2.3 Preparation of NCDs	22
2.4 Preparation of NCDs-Rutin	23
2.5 Characterization of NCDs-Rutin	23
2.5.1 FTIR	23
2.5.2 UV-Vis Spectrophotometer	23
2.5.3 AFM	23
2.6 Haemolytic Assay	24
2.7 Animal Testing	24
2.7.1 Behavioral Testing	24
2.7.1.1 Morris Water Maze (MWM) Test	24
2.7.1.2 Y-Maze Test	25
2.7.1.3 Novel Object Recognition (NOR) Test	25
2.7.1.4 Open Field Test	25
2.8 Statistycal Analysis	26
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS	27
3.1 FTIR Analysis	27
3.2 UV-Vis Spectrophotometry	28
3.3 AFM Analysis	28
3.4 Hemolytic Test	29
3.5 Behavioral Tests	29
3.5.1 MWM Test	29
3.5.2 Y-Maze Test	30
3.5.3 Open Field Test	32
3.5.4 NOR Test	33
3.6 Behavioral Tests after NCD-Rutin Administration	34
3.6.1 MWM Test	34
3.6.2 Y-Maze Test	36
3.6.3 Open Field Test	36
3.6.4 NOR Test	37
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION	39
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION	43
REFERENCES	44

List of Figures

Figure 3.1: FTIR spectra of NCDs, Rutin and NCD-Rutin	27
Figure 3.2: UV-Vis spectrum of NCDs, Rutin and NCD-Rutin	28
Figure 3.3: AFM results for NCD-Rutin	29
Figure 3.4: Haemolysis rates of RBCs treated with different concentrations of NCD-Rutin	30
Figure 3.5.1: MWM test	31
Figure 3.5.2: Y-maze test	32
Figure 3.5.3: Open Field test	33
Figure 3.5.4: NOR test	34
Figure 3.6.1: MWM test after NCD-Rutin administration	35
Figure 3.6.2: Y-maze test after NCD-Rutin administration	36
Figure 3.6.3: Open Field test after NCD-Rutin administration	37
Figure 3.6.4: NOR test after NCD-Rutin administration	38
-	

Abbreviations

Αβ	Amyloid Beta
AD	Alzheimer's Disease
ADAM10	A Disintegrin and Metalloproteinase Domain-
	Containing Protein 10
ADAS-Cog	AD Assessment Scale
AFM	Atomic Force Microscopy
AlCl ₃	Aluminum Chloride
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
APOE	Apolipoprotein E Gene
APP	Amyloid Precursor Protein
BBB	Blood-Brain Barrier
BIN1	Bridging Integrator-1
CD	Carbon Dots
CD2AP	Cortactin-CD2-Associated Protein
CIBIS	Clinician Interview-Based Impression Scale
CNS	Central Nervous System
-СООН	Carboxyl Group
CSF	Cerebrospinal Fluid
DDS	Drug Delivery Systems
DSM IV	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental
	Disorders, Fourth Edition
EOAD	Early-Onset AD
ERK2	Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase
FAD	Familial AD
FTIR	Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy
GluCDs	Glucose Carbon Dots
GQDs	Graphene Quantum Dots
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
LOAD	Late-Onset AD
M1	Primary Motor
MMSE	Mini-Mental State Examination
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging

MS4A4A	Membrane Spanning 4-Domains A4A
MWM	Morris Water Maze
NCDs	Nitrogen-Doped Carbon Dots
NFT	Neurofibrillary Tangles
-NH ₂	Amine Group
NIR	Near-IR
NOR	Novel Object Recognition
OPD	O-Phenylenediamine
PA (%)	Percentage Alterations
PBS	Phosphate-Buffered Saline
PEG	Polyethylene Glycol
PI3K	Phosphoinositide 3-Kinases
PL	Photoluminescence
PLD3	Phospholipase D3
PSEN1	Presenilin 1
PSEN2	Presenilin 2
РТКВ2	Protein-Tyrosine Kinase 2-Beta
RBCs	Red Blood Cells
RIN3	Ras and Rab Interactor 3
S1	Somatosensory
SEM	Standard Error of the Mean
TJs	Tight Junctions
TREM2	Triggering Receptor Expressed on Myeloid Cells 2
WHO	World Health Organization
Y-CDs	Yellow-Emissive CDs

Abstract

World Health Organization (WHO) states that approximately 55 million people are suffering from dementia globally making it a major public health concern. Alzheimer's Disease (AD) is the most common cause of dementia constituting 60-80% of cases worldwide. Currently, the available drugs can only provide symptomatic relief. The blood-brain barrier is one of the obstacles in the path of the drugs that limits them from reaching the target area in the brain. Carbon Dots (CDs) have excellent properties such as biocompatibility, low cytotoxicity, and large surface area to volume ratio which makes them a potential candidate for drug delivery. Rutin, a naturally occurring flavonoid has many biological effects, one of which is the neuroprotective effect. Previously, this drug has been found to reduce A^β oligomer levels and neuroinflammation in APP/PS1 mouse model of AD with improvement in spatial memory. With the aim of improving its reach and effectiveness in the brain, in this study, nitrogen-doped carbon dots (NCDs) and Rutin were utilized to synthesize NCD-Rutin, which is a nanomaterial with high-performance capabilities. NCDs exhibited the ability to effectively suppress the hyperphosphorylation of tau protein. FTIR and UV-Vis Spectrum results confirm the doping of NCDs with Rutin. Additionally, utilizing AD-like rat model, it was observed that the NCD-Rutin was able to penetrate the bloodbrain barrier. Aluminum chloride injection (150 mg/kg/day) with D-galactose (300 mg/kg/day) was administered intraperitoneally for 15 days in order to induce AD-like condition in 1-year-old male albino rats. A single injection of NCD-Rutin (10 mg/kg) was administered intraperitoneally to experimental animals. Significant improvement in memory impairment was observed in ADlike rat models a week after the injection of NCD-Rutin, which demonstrates its potential as a promising therapeutic agent for AD treatment.

Key Words: Carbon dots, Rutin, Alzheimer's disease, Nanotechnology

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

Alzheimer's disease (AD) has emerged as a considerably major challenge to public health, due to the augmented longevity of life of the general populace and a more comprehensive comprehension of the socio-economic implications of the ailment. Alois Alzheimer delineated AD in the year 1906, utilizing criteria of disorientation, progressive cognitive impairment, and pathological markers like senile plaques and neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) (Schachter & Davis, 2000).

The early manifestation of AD can be attributed to the deposition of Amyloid beta (A β) peptide in the form of amyloid plaques in the brain, leading to neurodegeneration that results in cognitive and functional impairment (Selkoe & Hardy, 2016). The development of the disease is dependent on studies of rare genetic variations that either promote or reduce A β deposition, thereby providing evidence that amyloid plaques play a vital role (Fleisher et al., 2015). Moreover, the occurrence of amyloid plaques in the initial stages of the disease increases the likelihood of dementia progressing from simple cognitive impairment (Doraiswamy et al., 2012). The administration of treatments aimed at eliminating amyloid plaques may decelerate the clinical progression of AD. Alongside amyloid plaques, intracellular NFTs including hyperphosphorylated tau protein are another neuropathological marker of AD. Current disease models suggest that tau pathology is triggered by A β , and at a later stage, a complex and synergistic relationship between A β and tau emerges, hastening the course of AD (Busche & Hyman, 2020).

1.1. Epidemiology

In 2018, it was estimated by Alzheimer's Disease International that approximately 50 million individuals globally are affected by dementia, with a projected tripling of this figure by 2050, with two-thirds of cases being reported in under-developed countries (Scheltens et al., 2021). It is anticipated that the prevalence of incapacitating and financially disastrous ailments will increase in the middle of the century, impacting more than 131 million people by 2050 due to the ageing population (Prince et al., 2016).

The process of ageing is the key determinant of the primary risk factor for AD, resulting in a staggering increase in dementia incidence every 6.3 years, rising from a mere 3.9 per 1000 for individuals of the age group 60-90, to an alarming 104.8 per 1000 for those who have surpassed the age threshold of 90 (Prince et al., 2015). The frequency of dementia is higher in the older age group, with an estimated rate of 10% for those over the age of 65 and 40% for those over the age of 80 (DeTure & Dickson, 2019). Effective pre-clinical diagnosis and treatments are crucial in preventing disease progression before the onset of symptoms, given the mounting personal and financial burden.

There exist mainly two distinct classifications of AD: familial and sporadic. Furthermore, there are two distinct stages of the disease, (a) early-onset AD (EOAD), which ensues in individuals of age 65 and under, and (b) late-onset AD (LOAD), which occurs after the age of 65. EOAD cases are found to be more prevalent than LOAD but still constitute less than 5% of all AD cases with a pathology diagnosis. EOAD is often characterized by an aggressive course and presentation (Mendez, 2017). AD is believed to have an impact on 5.5% to 9% of the general populace every six months (Gao et al., 1998). Over the course of a decade, the disease's prevalence doubled. At present, almost half of those who are aged 85 or older suffer from AD. Mild cognitive impairment may be present in people with cognitive impairment but are generally not included under clinical criteria for AD, and still manifest a regression in cognitive performance and encounter difficulties with new learning. Ongoing studies indicate that 40% of this group will acquire AD within three years (Schachter & Davis, 2000).

1.2. Etiology

Amyloid precursor protein (APP), Presenilin 1 (PSEN1), and Presenilin 2 (PSEN2) genetic mutations have the potential to lead to dominantly genetic Familial AD (FAD). Appearing in under 1% of AD patients, FAD generally manifests at the age of 46.2 years, although it may occur as early as 20 years old (Ryman et al., 2014). The majority of patients exhibit dementia by the age of 65. Even though genetic risk factors, particularly the apolipoprotein E gene (APOE), have been identified as LOAD, which is more prevalent, and is still believed to be sporadic. The highest risks of developing AD include age, family history in a first-degree relative, and APOE4 genotype. Furthermore, it has been observed that the APOE4 allele significantly heightens the susceptibility to traumatic brain injuries, Down's syndrome, Lewy body dementia, and vascular dementia (Verghese et al., 2011). The identification of approximately 30 genes through genome-wide association studies, such as Triggering Receptor Expressed on Myeloid Cells 2 (TREM2), Phospholipase D3 (PLD3), and A Disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain-containing protein 10 (ADAM10), has been related to an increased risk of LOAD. These genes not only have a direct impact on APP and tau, but also have a role in the up- or down-regulation of cholesterol metabolism, immune response, and endocytosis, with known functions (Karch & Goate, 2015). With a better comprehension of the functionality of the current and novel risk factors, insight into the pathophysiological mechanisms underlying AD can be gained. The major neuropathological characteristics of AD include senile plaques and NFTs. With the disease progression, the plaques gradually build up in brain regions linked to cognition before spreading to nearby cortical areas. These plaques embody insoluble $A\beta$ deposits, which originated from APP. The $A\beta$ peptide arises due to two events involving the proteolytic activity of β -secretase and γ -secretase. Two types of A β have been identified: A β_{40} , which is shorter, and A β_{42} , which is longer. The initial deposition of A β_{42} may function in activating the mechanisms which eventually lead to the deposition of amyloid. Despite the mounting evidence that APP metabolic dysfunction, resulting in an increase in A β deposits, is a cause of AD, it remains unclear whether senile plaques are the causative agents of the disease or a by-product. A β is found to be toxic to neurons, either directly or indirectly by causing inflammation or an increase in free radical generation. Another distinguishing feature of AD is the collection of NFTs in the brain. Majority of these NFTs are composed of chemically reformed (irregularly folded and phosphorylated) Tau protein, which functions in the microtubules formation in neurons. The quantity of tau tangles in the cerebral cortex increases in proportion to the severity of the disease; as the disease progresses, so does the number of tangles. Recent research affirms the notion that changes in tau occur subsequent to A^β build-up in AD patients. (Näslund et al., 2000).

1.3. Diagnosis

AD is characterized by cognitive and non-cognitive changes. The former includes disruptions in memory, language, executive function, and visuospatial orientation. The latter includes personality alterations, impaired judgment, mood disturbances, wandering, psychosis, sleep abnormalities and agitation. A reliable informant is required to provide a general medical, neurological, neuropsychiatric, and family history for suspected AD patients. Physical and

neurological examinations, routine laboratory examinations, optional laboratory examinations, and neuroimaging are included in the diagnostic evaluation. Complete blood count, thyroid function tests, sequential multiple analysis, vitamin B12, rapid plasma reagin, and folate are examples of routine laboratory tests, while erythrocyte sedimentation rate, serology for Lyme's disease, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) serology, lumbar puncture, urinalysis, urine drug screen, and electroencephalography may be optional laboratory tests. Computed imaging or Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) is used for neuroimaging. Utilizing standardized criteria such as the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition (DSM IV) criteria and the National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Diseases and Stroke—Alzheimer's Disease and Relatives, neuropathological examination (which involves identifying NFTs and plaques) from autopsy analysis has demonstrated to be 90% accurate in clinically detecting AD (Chao & Manita, 2013; McKhann et al., 1984).

AD gradually progresses, with an annual loss of 3 to 4 points on widely used diagnostic tools like the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE). While there are several deficiency patterns that may be observed, a common symptom is a gradual onset characterized by memory loss, ensued by the occurrence of aphasia, agnosia, and apraxia over time. In the early stages of AD, individuals may exhibit personality problems and irritability. Later on, patients typically experience gait and motor issues before becoming silent and bedridden. Despite the fact that the disease can persist for up to two decades, AD patients typically survive for 8 to 10 years post-diagnosis (Small et al., 1997).

Jack and his colleagues have undertaken the task of classifying biomarkers into three distinct categories, namely A (amyloid), T (phosphorylated tau), and N (neurodegeneration, assessed by the entirety of tau), constituting the ATN framework. This classification has been necessitated by the ever-evolving field of biomarkers, and the pressing need to render them efficacious in a diagnostic setting. According to their research model, the diagnosis of AD hinges on the presence of both $A\beta$ and phosphorylated tau. It is imperative to note that AD diagnosis is solely established on biomarker data, and the manifestation of amyloid signifies an alteration in AD's pathology. It is noteworthy that AD is a protracted continuum that extends over several years, and the clinical phases may extend from cognitively mild to moderate cognitive deficiency and eventually dementia. The framework known as the ATN posits that $A\beta$ and tau are the defining

features of AD, and thus biomarkers alone may be utilized to diagnose the condition. Furthermore, it unequivocally distinguishes between AD and dementia (Jack et al., 2018).

Despite receiving criticism for the omission of other significant causes of dementia, specifically vascular disease, the authors of the ATN framework maintain that the condition is underpinned by numerous underlying pathologies, with AD being one such pathology (Sweeney et al., 2019). It should be noted, however, that the diagnostic criteria for AD require the presence of A β and tau, although it is acknowledged that other pathologies may also be exhibited in affected patients (Jack et al., 2019). At present, the ATN approach is not considered to be suitable for clinical application due to the extensive amount of ATN categories. Additionally, the other disorders are not accounted for within the framework (Altomare et al., 2019). Furthermore, there exist pragmatic limitations regarding the definition of A, T, and N positive or negative, including the absence of established cutoff values for certain biomarkers and the grouping of diverse biomarkers into a solitary category. Despite the ATN approach being the basis for current research on disease-altering therapies, the clinical diagnosis of AD continues to depend on the standards established by the National Institute on Aging in 2011 (Cummings et al., 2019).

The ATN framework facilitates the possibility of personalized risk profiling for individuals suffering from mild forms of cognitive deficiency (Amsterdam et al., 2019). This advancement is significant as it allows for diagnosis prior to the onset of AD-associated dementia. Regardless of this development, a clinical research study examining doctor-patient interaction in clinics dealing with memory found that doctors tend to be hesitant in providing patients with mild cognitive impairment with specific prognostic information (Visser et al., 2020). The diagnosis of cognitive decline in predementia is considerably more challenging. ATN biomarkers have the ability to accurately predict the occurrence of dementia in those who experience subjective cognitive decline at a group level (Ebenau et al., 2020; Maurik et al., 2019). However, the process of personalized risk modelling remains challenging. According to a Delphi survey, both patients and their caregivers have expressed a preference for clear and specific information, even if it does not guarantee absolute assurance, during the diagnostic process (Fruijtier et al., 2019). The development of tools such as ADappt is urgently necessary to enhance decision-making and communication concerning a diagnosis of AD (Maurik et al., 2019).

1.4. Genetics

The comprehension of the prospective mechanisms behind the four identified genes that lead to familial forms of AD that provides the most compelling evidence for the significant role of Aβ. Though these genetic mutations (APP on chromosome 21, PSEN1 on chromosome 14, and PSEN2 on chromosome 1) are exceedingly rare, accounting for less than 1% of cases, patients with familial early-onset autosomal dominant AD have three of these distinct mutations. All of these genes appear to elevate the cleavage of APP β - and γ -secretase, which subsequently seems to increase the cellular synthesis of A β_{42} . The APOE $\varepsilon 4$ allele, while not entirely necessary or sufficient in causing AD, is a notable risk factor for its development in both genders across a broad range of ethnic and racial groups between the ages of 40 and 90, as evidenced by a meta-analysis that included over 14,000 AD patients and controls. Estimates suggest that hereditary factors, including APOE-4, account for between 45% and 60% of AD risk. Rather than increasing AB production, it would seem that APOE $\varepsilon 4$ operates by enhancing A β aggregation or reducing its clearance. Furthermore, Lipoprotein, a newly discovered potential risk factor, appears to have a dual role in AD risk, protecting against late-onset AD in non-carriers while simultaneously increasing the risk of late-onset AD in carriers (Mooser et al., 2000). As part of the EURODEM (European Investigations of Dementia) initiatives, a series of retrospective inquiries have divulged that women exhibit an escalated risk for AD while simultaneously exhibiting an equivalent risk for vascular dementia. This heightened susceptibility to AD among women may be partly attributed to their extended lifespans. In light of the fact that women with AD tend to outlive their male counterparts, there exists a twofold increase in the number of women suffering from this ailment in the general population. Furthermore, these inquiries have evidenced that a history of dementia in the family and a history of head trauma do not significantly elevate the risk of AD (Andersen et al., 1999; Launer et al., 2014). At present, the only known risk factors for AD are ageing and APOE ɛ4. In spite of the existing knowledge, conducting genotyping in asymptomatic individuals is not recommended, regardless of their AD history, due to the indeterminate predictive value, the absence of a remedy for the ailment, and the potential for discriminatory practices (Lapham et al., 1996; Mehlman et al., 1996).

Twin studies demonstrate that hereditary factors impact a significant percentage of the vulnerability to AD, ranging from 60 to 80 per cent (Gatz et al., 2006). Although the prevalence of the APOE ɛ4 genotype partially accounts for the heritability of this disease, it does not fully

explain it (Ridge et al., 2013; Bellenguez et al., 2017). The latest large-scale genome-wide association study, which included over 150,000 individuals with AD and matched controls, as well as over 300,000 individuals with a proxy phenotype of AD (i.e., those with a family history of the disease) and controls without such history, has increased the number of risk alleles for AD to more than 40. Various studies on the genome-wide association have demonstrated that the highly prevalent APOE ε 4 risk allele is linked to a 3-4 times higher risk of AD. However, other alleles that pose a risk for the disease have lesser contributions to the overall risk of the disease (Jansen et al., 2019).

1.5. Comorbidity

Additionally, AD can coexist with other forms of dementia such as vascular dementia or Lewy-body dementia. However, there is a lack of clinical research on treating individuals with comorbidity of this type. Furthermore, AD-affected individuals often exhibit high levels of medical comorbidity such as heart disease, malignancies, and diabetes (Schachter & Davis, 2022).

1.6. Pathophysiology

The initial stage of AD at the cellular level is commonly referred to as the preclinical phase by researchers in the field. Prior to any observable cognitive impairment, the disease progresses surreptitiously as a result of alterations in neurons, microglia, and astroglia (Strooper & Karran, 2016). Within this cellular environment, there exists a confluence of factors such as neuroinflammation, vascular changes, ageing, and failure of the glymphatic system that precede or occur concurrently with amyloid accumulation (Lu et al., 2014; Venegas et al., 2017; Plog & Nedergaard, 2018; Sweeney et al., 2018; Mesquita et al., 2018). The mechanism by which amyloid induces the propagation of tau pathology, leading to the emergence of necroptosis markers present in the neurons exhibiting granulovacuolar degeneration, remains unknown (Long & Holtzman, 2019; Koper et al., 2020).

Utilizing single-cell transcriptome analysis, the response of microglia has been elucidated (Keren-Shaul et al., 2017). The two primary genes associated with the risk of AD, APOE and TREM2, play a substantial role in this reaction (Keren-Shaul et al., 2017; Parhizkar et al., 2019; Frigerio et al., 2019). The genetic variations of TREM2 i.e., Arg47His, Arg62His, and Asp87Asn, which are linked to AD, diminish TREM2's ability to bind to amyloid plaques, which in turn bind

to APOE (Yeh et al., 2016). In addition to these, seventy other proteins such as Protein-tyrosine kinase 2-beta (PTKB2), Cortactin-CD2-associated protein (CD2AP), Ras and Rab interactor 3 (RIN3), and Bridging Integrator-1 (BIN1), which have been correlated with a genetic risk of developing AD, appear to function downstream of TREM2 and APOE signalling to regulate endocytosis, phagocytosis, and motility, in microglia. It is evident that the pathways of microglial response play a critical role in pathophysiology, given the congregation of so many risk genes for AD (Leyns et al., 2017, 2019).

The incongruous outcomes of the microglial response partially demonstrate the constraints of mouse models with tau-overexpression for the investigation of AD. The strong transgenic tau overexpression, which is present in some models, may lead to a synthetically elevated neuroinflammatory response that is absent in models with a lower expression level (Leyns et al., 2017, 2019). These conflicting observations can be clarified by employing mouse-human chimeric mice, animal models not overexpressing tau, or novel *in vitro* models originating from human-induced pluripotent stem cells (Park et al., 2018; Hasselmann et al., 2019; Mancuso et al., 2019).

Although the focus of research on AD has been on cellular pathology, there has also been a significant advancement in comprehending the biochemical phase of the illness, specifically the existence of amyloid according to ATN terminology. Cryo-electron microscopy has contributed to a better understanding of tau and A β fibrils (Gremer et al., 2017). Furthermore, through cryoelectron microscopy, Presenilins, which are the catalytic subunits of γ -secretases, and their interactions with Notch substrates and APP have been comprehensively understood (Yang et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2019). It is an established fact that alterations in Presenilins disrupt the connections between γ -secretase and APP, steering to the untimely release of extended, aggregation-prone amyloid peptides. This understanding has been supported by practical studies on isolated γ -secretase complexes (Szaruga et al., 2017). These findings provide motivation for the development of innovative therapeutic advances to combat A β in AD.

1.7. Treatment

The primary goals of treatment entail enhancements in cognitive functioning and mitigations in behavioural disturbances, including depression, psychosis, agitation, and sleeplessness.

1.7.1. Pharmacotherapy

Cognitive enhancers for the amelioration of cognitive deficits in AD are presently accessible, alongside mood stabilizers, antipsychotic agents, antidepressant medications, and hypnotic agents for the alleviation of behavioural disturbances.

1.7.1.1. Cholinesterase Inhibitors

The cholinergic deficiency observed in individuals with AD serves as the foundation for employing cholinesterase inhibitors. Exclusively, cholinesterase inhibitors have exhibited significant outcomes for AD-affected individuals. These compounds prevent the degradation of acetylcholine by the enzymes responsible for its breakdown (acetylcholinesterase), thus elevating the amount of acetylcholine available for synaptic transmission. Over the course of the disease, particularly in the intermediate stage, these medications seem to be favourable (Schachter & Davis, 2022).

Currently, donepezil, tacrine, galantamine, and rivastigmine are the cholinesterase inhibitors that are globally available for clinical utilization (Knapp et al., 1994; Bores et al., 1996; Rogers et al., 1998; Rösler et al., 1999). While doctors and families may not immediately perceive improved symptoms, patients taking these drugs appear to experience less cognitive decline than control patients. In order for a medication to be approved for treating AD in the US, it must surpass a placebo in a randomized clinical trial that employs both global clinical measurements and psychometric testing. The study must also last for a minimum of three months. Two commonly employed scales are the Clinician Interview-Based Impression Scale (CIBIS) and the AD Assessment Scale (ADAS-cog). The latter assesses several cognitive functions, including language, orientation, recall, recognition, naming, command-following ability, and constructional and ideational praxis. The ADAS-cog yields a potential score ranging between 0 to 70. High scores suggest increased impairment.

The degree of AD appears to elicit varied responses to cholinesterase inhibition, with individuals in the middle phase of AD (as defined by MMSE scores of 11 to 17) demonstrating greater responsiveness than those with mild AD (MMSE scores of 18 to 26). These observations support the thought that cholinergic dysfunction becomes statistically larger at this juncture of AD (Davis et al., 1999). Moreover, cholinesterase inhibitors may be employed in treating behavioural disorders in AD patients, with clinical trials indicating improvements in psychosis, agitation, and mood disturbances through this class of drugs (Raskind, 1998; Nordberg & Svensson, 1998).

Unfortunately, there exists a paucity of research comparing the tolerance and safety of cholinesterase inhibitors. Conclusively determining which cholinesterase inhibitor to take based on head-to-head research is not feasible.

1.7.1.2. Anti-Inflammatory Agents

Retrospective epidemiologic investigations have yielded evidence supporting the notion that anti-inflammatory medication may impede the progression of AD (Breitner et al., 1994; Stewart et al., 1997). Prospective clinical trials employing non-steroidal anti-inflammatory medications (NSAIDs) in AD are exceedingly rare. Non-randomized studies utilizing NSAIDs (indomethacin, naproxen, ibuprofen, diclofenac), steroids (low-dose prednisone), and other anti-inflammatory drugs (colchicine, and hydroxychloroquine) have demonstrated hopeful outcomes in regulation of the course of the disease (Rogers et al., 1993; Aisen et al., 1996; Scharf et al., 1999). Unfortunately, these investigations have employed limited sample sizes. However, more recently conducted studies have not confirmed the earlier encouraging findings. During a 16-month, placebo-controlled study, 138 AD-affected patients were administered Prednisone. The results of the research revealed no discernible difference in the rate of cognitive deterioration in comparison to placebo (Aisen et al., 2000).

1.7.2. Lifestyle Alterations

The inaugural guidelines from the WHO regarding the mitigation of the risk of cognitive deficiency and dementia were issued in the year 2019 (World Health Organization, 2019). These guidelines acknowledge the possibility of offering recommendations, albeit with varying degrees of precision, for specific factors such as physical exertion, dietary choices, body mass index, hypertension, smoking and alcohol consumption, and diabetes. Limitations of the existing corpus of research include a dearth of long-term, randomized, controlled studies, standardization issues, and the absence of evidence from low- and middle-income nations where dementia incidence is rapidly mounting.

The SPRINT-MIND trial has shown that thorough control of blood pressure (with a target of <120 mm Hg) is highly effective against cognitive impairment in comparison to simple blood pressure control (with a goal of <140 mm Hg). This supports the concept that measures benefiting cardiovascular health are also beneficial for brain health. Nevertheless, determining the best possible therapeutic aim remains an unresolved issue, especially in those over 70 years of age (Williamson et al., 2019). The inadequacies of individual interventions in the past have

emphasized the key requirement for a multimodal preventative method that has demonstrated efficacy in the fields of diabetes and cardiovascular prevention (Kivipelto et al., 2018).

The initial extensive, randomized controlled trial, which evidenced that a lifestyle-based intervention with multiple domains could mitigate the risk of cognitive decline in at-risk individuals, was the Finnish FINGER study (Ngandu et al., 2015; Solomon et al., 2018). FINGER incorporated a well-balanced, healthy diet, social activities, physical exercise, and management of vascular as well as metabolic risk factors with mental training. Even in individuals with a genetic predisposition to AD, the trial's affirmative effects on cognition were perceptible. The Dutch PreDIVA trial focused on the management of metabolic and vascular risk factors, while the French MAPT trial explored the correlation between lifestyle mediation and omega-3 fatty acid supplementation (Charante et al., 2016; Andrieu et al., 2017). Despite the identification of cognitive benefits in certain participant subgroups at heightened risk of dementia, the aforementioned trials were unable to attain their primary goals. In a particular study of the amyloid-PET utilizing MAPT trial, a lifestyle intervention either on its own or when paired with omega-3 fatty acids was correlated with an improvement in primary cognitive ability in individuals exhibiting positive amyloid status (Delrieu et al., 2019). This investigation serves to demonstrate that lifestyle aspects are capable of contributing positively towards the outcomes of individuals with AD, even when they do not explicitly influence the pathology of the condition.

1.8. Role of Nanotechnology

The perplexing question of how medicinal drugs can traverse the blood-brain barrier (BBB) to advance into the central nervous system (CNS) and exert their therapeutic effects has long confounded the field of modern medicine. The BBB, characterized by its predominantly semipermeable nature, poses a significant obstacle to the delivery of treatment medicines for brain disorders (Sarrazin et al., 2012; Burgess & Hynynen, 2014). However, alternative modalities such as photodynamic and photothermal therapy have demonstrated promise in circumventing the BBB and are routinely implemented for the management of various CNS ailments. Nonetheless, the utilization of photosensitization techniques raises additional challenges, notably adverse effects such as damage to skin tissues (Dhas et al., 2021).

The key advantage of utilizing smart nanoparticles (NPs) is their ability to respond to both internal and external stimuli in predictable and specific ways, which enhances the control of the

medication delivery process. Additionally, research has demonstrated that the covalent coupling of NPs and various ligands can significantly improve the efficacy of drug delivery (Zhou, et al., 2018). Niosome and glutathione peptide are two such ligands that can enhance the stability and solubility of Nanoparticle-based drug delivery systems (DDS). Moreover, the exploitation of specific ligands, for example, transferrin, has the potential to aid in directed treatment and the traversal of biological obstacles such as cell membranes and the BBB (Gharbavi et al., 2018; Nosrati et al., 2019).

Carbon, the profusely abundant element on earth, exists in many allotropes, such as diamond, fullerene, and graphite. Carbon nanomaterials, a fresh classification of carbon-based substances, consisting of nanodiamonds, fullerenes, graphene quantum dots (GQDs), carbon dots, and carbon nanofibers, have garnered significant attention in the realm of nanotechnology. The most recent addition to this family, with a magnitude less than 10 nm, is the Carbon Dots (CD). These nanomaterials are enriched with exceptional features, such as remarkable quantum yield, amplified biocompatibility, satisfactory water solubility, low cytotoxicity, and augmented cell permeability, which render them advantageous for employment in the fields of biology (Jaleel & Pramod, 2018; Jhonsi et al., 2018). CDs can be synthesized using a diverse array of chemical and natural precursors, employing top-down and bottom-up approaches. Nonetheless, a significant proportion of researchers tend to resort to chemical precursors to produce CDs. Consequently, it is imperative to develop sustainable methods and resources for the synthesis of CDs, in order to mitigate the deleterious impacts associated with their production (Sharma et al., 2017; Thakur et al., 2019). In this regard, some researchers have turned to organic precursors for the production of CDs, owing to their high renewability, superior biocompatibility, and cost-effectiveness. CDs have been synthesized from an assortment of sources, including plants, beverages, fruits, and vegetables. Among these precursors, plant-derived CDs are currently receiving greater attention from researchers (Tejwan et al., 2022).

Due to their distinctive properties, encompassing exceptional photoluminescence (PL), high biocompatibility, abundance of surface functional groups, non-toxicity, and nanoscale dimensions, CDs are among the most auspicious candidates for BBB penetration (Li et al., 2016; Seven et al., 2019; Zhou et al., 2019). In addition, their capacity to traverse the BBB can be substantially influenced by precursor materials, synthetic techniques, and post-synthesis procedures. According to numerous studies, CDs can traverse the BBB even with cargo molecules.

Essentially, CDs have demonstrated considerable capability as adaptable drug nanocarriers that can penetrate the BBB and provide treatment for CNS ailments (Kappe, 2004; Medeiros et al., 2019; Tajik et al., 2020).

1.9. Synthesizing Carbon Dots

Synthesis of CDs is carried out using top-down and bottom-up approaches, with a several forms of reaction and precursors employed (Tejwan et al., 2020). Microwave irradiation stands out as the most widely adopted technique for CD preparation, owing to its rapid response time and uniform heating (Kappe, 2004). The creation of CDs from polyethylene glycol (PEG) and sucrose using this method was first accomplished by Zhu et al. (2009). Subsequently, Wang et al. (2011) employed the same approach to generate CDs from a range of other carbohydrates. The production of CDs is predominantly accomplished through microwave-mediated processes, with hydrothermal/solvothermal procedures following closely behind. An illustration of this is demonstrated by Zhao et al., (2017) who utilized benzenetetramine to generate CDs with emission wavelengths exceeding 600 nm. The synthesis of CDs through hydrothermal or solvothermal means has been conducted using a variety of precursors, such as proteins, polysaccharides, and various organic acids including citric acids and amino acids (Zhou et al., 2015; Yang et al., 2017; Ghosh et al., 2017; Mintz et al., 2018; Seven et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2019; Sun et al., 2020). Conversely, ultrasonication is a more subtle approach in contrast to microwave irradiation or hydrothermal/solvothermal methods, albeit it is not as frequently applied (Tejwan et al., 2021). Zhou et al. (2018) reported that O-Phenylenediamine (OPD) and Citric acid were utilized as foundations to create a distinctive variety of excitation-independent yellow-emissive CDs (Y-CDs). In addition, Ajmal et al. suggested that probe sonication could be employed to create CDs from glucose (Ajmal et al., 2019).

CDs possess optical characteristics that are largely similar, with only minor differences. They are characterized by excitation-dependent emission, which was previously restricted to the blue-green range of light but has now also expanded to encompass the orange-red and even near-IR (NIR) range (Mintz et al., 2019; Shi et al., 2019). Remarkably, the orange-red and NIR PLs of CDs exhibit considerably lower excitation dependence than their blue-green counterparts. On the other hand, GQDs exhibit much more clearly defined structural characteristics than CDs, resulting in less variation in their PL properties (Zheng & Wu, 2017). However, the inclusion of heteroatoms

and the size of the sp² carbon complexes in the particle can still modify their emissions, often causing them to shift from blue to orange (Zhu et al., 2015; Shen et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020). CDs and generic nitrogen-doped CDs (NCDs) exhibit similar characteristics (Zhou et al., 2013; Liyanage et al., 2019).

The primary differentiation among various CDs is found specifically in the core structure. Typically, the carbon nanodot centres are amorphous (Mintz et al., 2019). While some research proposes a hybrid sp²/sp³ structure for CDs, others demonstrate a more carbon-based/polymer-like structure (Xia et al., 2019). GQDs, by definition, consist of a few assembled graphene sheets (Tajik et al., 2020). In their cores, s-triazine or other carbon nitride structures are frequently found in CNDs. Although the fundamental structure of each class of CDs differs, it is believed that the surfaces of these molecules are composed of simple functional groups or small organic molecules.

Since their inception, CDs have been extensively scrutinized for a plethora of applications in the realm of nanomedicine, as previously alluded to (Tejwan et al., 2020). In 2007, Sun and colleagues initially detected CDs in human breast cancer cells (Cao et al., 2007). Various concentrations of CD solutions were administered to healthy or cancerous cells to assess their cytotoxicity and biocompatibility. Cell viability was gauged following exposure to CD solutions, and the findings evinced that all CDs had minimal cytotoxicity (Lu et al., 2016; Zhou et al., 2019). CDs' stability was assessed by examining their sizes, surface charges, and architectures subsequent to cell incubation under varied pH conditions. Comparable zeta potentials and sizes revealed that the physiological states and surface of CDs remained stable even after cellular internalization. Moreover, atomic force microscopy images demonstrated the stability of CDs for a duration exceeding seven days under various pH levels (Wang et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2018; Niu et al., 2020). The biocompatibility of CDs was first assessed in mice in 2009, wherein three distinct groups of mice were injected with CD aqueous solutions, and all survived the experimentation period of four weeks without displaying any clinical symptoms or aggressive behaviour. Furthermore, serum biochemistry assays affirmed the normal functioning of hepatic and renal systems (Yang, et al., 2009a). In the same year, Yang and colleagues provided the first instance of bioimaging using CDs in animal models, which initially received limited attention until the middle of the decade when interest in the subject surged dramatically (Yang et al., 2009b).

Both *in vitro* and *in vivo* models have been established to assess the proficiency of CDs and CD-conjugated derivatives to traverse the BBB. In their study, Lu et al. employed a one-pot

hydrothermal process to fabricate NCDs and evaluated their BBB-penetration potential employing an *in vitro* model comprising rat microvascular endothelial cells and astrocytes (Lu et al., 2016). The strong blue photoluminescence of NCDs under UV-Vis Spectroscopy served as evidence of their transport through the BBB in a concentration-dependent manner. Notably, the transwell model utilized in the NCDs investigation constitutes an *in vitro* approach. Nevertheless, this biomimetic model suffers from a primary limitation, namely its inability to accurately replicate the BBB, despite the existence of tunable parameters and minimal variations. Zhou et al. (2020) have identified a CD class that resembles gels and is capable of penetrating the BBB using a zebrafish model. It is noteworthy that the zebrafish CNS physiology shares several similarities with humans, including key nervous system constituents such as transmitters, hormones, and receptors (Panula et al., 2006). Moreover, zebrafish exhibit a higher rate of progeny generation compared to mice, thereby facilitating reproducibility of experiments (Zhou, et al., 2018). Furthermore, zebrafish progeny is cost-effective and can be efficiently raised in a limited area (Panula et al., 2006).

The creation of novel CD conjugates that can cross the BBB for drug delivery relies on a more comprehensive mechanism by which CDs traverse the BBB. The intercellular tight junctions (TJs) between endothelial cells uphold a distance of 4 nm to 6 nm, enabling CDs smaller than 4 nm to cross the gap through passive means (Cai et al., 2016). Furthermore, electric charge forms an additional obstacle to the gap. TJs feature anionic regions that attract supplementary CDs and cationic molecules (Bilensoy, 2010). For example, the NCDs fabricated from PEG, as mentioned above, exhibit a positively charged surface (Lu et al., 2016). The 2.6 nm particle size and positively charged surface of NCDs enable them to diffuse passively across the BBB. The BBB's internal lipid barrier is inherently hydrophobic. Nevertheless, the amphiphilic Y-CDs successfully surmounted the lipid wall and migrated through the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) (Zhou et al., 2019). However, once the BBB is crossed, molecules must be hydrophilic to permeate through the CSF in the CNS. Passive diffusion is generally regarded as the most prevalent explanation for BBB penetration owing to the numerous intrinsic characteristics of CDs.

Furthermore, receptor-mediated endocytosis is a well-known technique for facilitating the crossing of CDs across the BBB. Li et al. (2016) demonstrated that the BBB cannot be penetrated by CDs alone but can be achieved through receptor-mediated endocytosis when combined with human transferrin. Another method involves the creation of self-targeting CDs using substances that are ligands for specific transporters. The resulting CDs will share similar functional groups

with their predecessors, thereby eliminating the need for further surface modification processes. Seven et al. showed that the BBB can be crossed via GLUT1-mediated transport by CDs made from glucose (GluCDs), a finding supported by two *in vivo* models: zebrafish and rats. Additionally, GluCDs were found to traverse the BBB with fluorescein (Seven et al., 2019). Furthermore, Mintz et al. utilized tryptophan as a precursor in the creation of CDs. The CDs synthesized with a tryptophan moiety on the surface were able to be identified and thus were able to successfully traverse the blood-brain barrier via LAT1-mediated transport. This demonstrates that CDs are efficacious delivery systems for medicinal treatment in central nervous system conditions (Mintz et al., 2019).

1.10. Application Of Carbon Dots in Treating CNS Diseases

CDs have exhibited their ability to traverse the BBB. Furthermore, the surfaces of CDs are endowed with abundant amine (-NH₂) and carboxyl (-COOH) groups, which can be leveraged to couple with diverse CNS pharmaceuticals. Additionally, CDs are biocompatible, rendering them suitable for biological therapeutics. For the treatment of AD and brain tumours, CDs serve as exceptional nanocarriers for delivering drugs into the CNS. One of the most widely used treatments for AD involves lowering the deposition of A β in the CNS.

Notably, Y-shaped carbon dots have exhibited the capacity to impede the generation of APP and A β in cells, rendering them suitable for employment as medicinal nanocarriers and nanomedicine in the context of AD (Zhou et al., 2019). In a research done by Liu et al. (2018), it was observed GQDs are capable of preventing A β aggregation. The potency of GQDs as an inhibitor of A β aggregation is further amplified upon their linkage with tramiprosate. Gong et al. (2016) found that functionalized CDs loaded with glycine-proline-glutamate effectively prevent A β aggregation and the reduction of proinflammatory cytokines. Similarly, the OPD-derived CDs developed by Chung et al. (2019) possess cationic surfaces and have been reported to be effective in preventing A β aggregation by coordinating with copper ions.

1.11. Natural Flavonoids as Treatment

Traditional medicinal practices have embraced a multitude of herbal remedies in treating various ailments since ancient times. These remedies, apart from serving as a source of nutrition, have proven to be effective in curing a range of disorders (Ang-Lee et al., 2001). In comparison to pharmaceuticals, certain plant extracts have demonstrated superior performance while being less

toxic and having fewer side effects (Awaad et al., 2011). The therapeutic characterestics of plants can be attributed to the presence of flavonoids, glycosides, tannins, alkaloids, terpenoids, and other secondary metabolites. The choice of solvent used during extraction plays a significant role in extracting physiologically active chemicals from plants. Out of the various solvents commonly used for extraction, such as chloroform, alcohols, ethyl acetate, and ether, water is by far the safest. While the antioxidant properties of flavonoids are widely recognized, their ability to modulate intracellular reactions, chiefly via the alteration of protein kinase signalling pathways, is indisputable (Rates, 2001). Furthermore, a considerable and growing body of evidence suggests that flavonoids can impede the pathways associated with AD. Nevertheless, there remains a substantial amount of ambiguity regarding their absorption, metabolism, and fundamental pharmacokinetics, which has hindered the progress of flavonoids as therapeutic interventions for AD.

The potential for Rutin (3,3',4',5,7-pentahydroxyflavone-3-rhamnoglucoside), a hydrophobic natural flavonoid, to be delivered through CDs was explored in this study (Negahdari et al., 2021). Rutin is a significant component of our daily diet and provides considerable nutritional benefits. It can be found in substantial quantities in various fruits and vegetables such as asparagus, apples, buckwheat, figs, plums, grapes, and oranges, as well as in several beverages including green tea, elderflower tea, black tea (Hassan et al., 2018). Rutin demonstrates a diverse range of pharmacological effects and can be employed to treat a broad spectrum of ailments such as diabetes, hypertension, cancer, and hypercholesterolemia. Moreover, it is renowned for its cytoprotective, antibacterial, antioxidant, anticarcinogenic, vasoprotective, neuroprotective, and cardioprotective properties (Nafees et al., 2018). The limited water solubility and cell permeability of Rutin greatly impede its potential to induce pharmacological effects (Gullón et al., 2017). To overcome these restrictions, CDs were utilized as a drug transporting vehicle to enhance the pharmacological activities of the medication.

1.12. Protective Effects of Rutin

1.12.1. Central Nervous system

The efficacy of Rutin as a neuroprotective agent against brain ischemia has been established. Rutin administration has been observed to mitigate ischemic neural apoptosis through lipid peroxidation, reduction of p53 expression, and the upregulation of endogenous antioxidant

defence enzymes (Khan et al., 2009). Additionally, Pu et al., (2007) have reported its effectiveness in treating oxidative, glutamate, and hypoxia stress. Rutin administration has also been shown to reduce neuroinflammation in a sporadic AD-like rat model and to confer neuroprotective effects in mice treated with dexamethasone (Tongjaroenbuangam et al., 2011; Javed et al., 2012). Rutin also possesses anticonvulsant properties, as suggested by research. Furthermore, individuals with epilepsy may safely consume it as it does not demonstrate any adverse effects or interfere with the administration of antiepileptic drugs, according to Nieoczym et al.'s study conducted in 2014.

Aside from the neuroprotective effects, the neural crest, a progenitor with both mesenchymal and neural potentials, experienced enhanced trunk neural crest cell survival through Rutin treatment, while differentiation and proliferation remained unaffected. This phenomenon may be linked to the modification of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK2) and phosphoinositide 3-kinases (PI3K) signalling, as suggested by (Nones et al., 2012). The treatment of schizophrenia poses a significant challenge due to the emergence of "tardive dyskinesia," a motor condition affecting the orofacial region, brought on by prolonged use of neuroleptic medications. This condition represents a major clinical problem. In a research study by Bishnoi et al., (2007), Rutin treatment was found to be effective in correcting behavioural alterations like stereotypic rearing, orofacial dyskinetic movements, locomotor activity, and percentage retention. Furthermore, the study revealed that Rutin treatment also led to the restoration of metabolic and neurochemical parameters in orofacial dyskinesia caused by haloperidol. Therefore, it appears that Rutin represents a key drug in the fight against hyperkinetic movement disorder.

Lloyd-Jones et al., (2010) assert that stroke is a significant public health concern globally, owing to its major role in adult mortality and disability. Ischemic injury to the brain has been linked to inflammation and oxidative stress which are two pathogenic occurrences that are commonly observed (Deb et al., 2010). In mice induced with localized cortical ischemia triggered by thermocoagulation of the primary motor (M1) and somatosensory (S1) cortical blood arteries, Rutin's protective effects were investigated. The administration of Rutin significantly aided in the recovery of sensorimotor loss, as evidenced by a reduction in neurodegeneration in the cortical injury's periphery (Ortolani et al., 1995).

The present investigation scrutinized the properties of Rutin similar to anti-depressants isolated from plant *Schinus molle*, through the utilization of tail suspension and forced swimming tests in murine subjects. In the tail suspension test, a decrease in immobility time was observed

while the locomotor system activity remained unchanged. As per the findings, Rutin engenders an antidepressant-like outcome by enhancing the accessibility of noradrenaline and serotonin in the synaptic cleft (Machado et al., 2008).

1.12.2. Antiarthritic Effects

Rutin-treated animals demonstrated a substantial enhancement in rheumatoid arthritis and Fanconi anaemia due to the prevention of "oxygen radical overproduction" as noted by Ostrakhovitch & Afanas'ev, (2001). As per Guardia et al., (2001)'s study, Rutin exhibited greater efficacy during the chronic stage of inflammation. In the remedy for septic arthritis caused by *Candida albicans*, Rutin's antifungal and anti-arthritic properties proved to be effective according to Han, (2009). Moreover, in a separate study conducted on Hartley guinea pigs, Rutin was observed to inhibit the catabolic cartilage and inflammatory markers in osteoarthritic lesions (Horcajada et al., 2015).

1.12.3. Endocrine System

Hyperglycemia is primarily caused by excessive glucose synthesis and insufficient tissue utilization of glucose (Chattopadhyay, 1993). Researchers revealed that constant Rutin treatment effectively increased insulin levels decreased plasma glucose levels and improved the levels of glycolytic enzymes and glycogen in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rodents. Furthermore, Rutin-treated diabetic rats demonstrated significant pancreatic regeneration in addition to a decrease in fatty infiltration (Srinivasan et al., 2005; Prince, 2006).

In male Wistar rats fed a high-cholesterol diet, Rutin administration was found to protect against hepatotoxicity. This was evidenced by a reduction in plasma levels of aspartate aminotransferase, alanine transaminase, total cholesterol, triglyceride, and low-density lipoprotein, according to Al-Rejaie et al., (2013). Additionally, regular consumption of flavonoids, for example, Rutin was found to be beneficial for cardiac health, as described in a separate study by Kalgaonkar et al., (2010).

The phenomenon commonly referred to as "thyroid iodide uptake," which is under the regulatory control of the sodium-iodide symporter, plays a crucial part in the synthesis of thyroid hormones as well as in the detection and management of diverse thyroid disorders. Nonetheless, a considerable proportion of thyroid cancer patients exhibit reluctance towards radioiodine therapy, which leads to a significant decline in iodine uptake capacity and, consequently, diminishes the likelihood of survival. Hence, it becomes of utmost importance to explore the potential of organic

substances in facilitating thyroid iodide absorption. In an investigation, Rutin exhibited a slight reduction in serum levels of T4 and T3 but did not affect thyrotropin levels. This was accompanied by a decline in the activity of liver type-1 deiodinase and a substantial increase in type-2 deiodinase in the hypothalamus, brown adipose, and pituitary tissue. Rutin intake was observed to be correlated with an elevation in thyroid iodide uptake, possibly attributable to an augmentation in sodium-iodide symporter activity. Based on the findings of Gonçalves et al., (2013), Rutin demonstrates efficacy as an adjunct in radioiodine therapy.

1.12.4. Cardiovascular System

Buckwheat, a plant that is abundant in Rutin, has been found to decrease nitrotyrosine immunoreactivity and protect aortic endothelial cells from oxidative damage. This is due to the potent antioxidant properties of Rutin present in buckwheat. A study by Dae et al., (2009) has also shown that a buckwheat germination extract has antihypertensive effects and is capable of protecting arterial endothelial cells from the detrimental effects arising from oxidative stress. Furthermore, oral intake of Rutin has appeared to reduce oxidative stress, which is the key element in restoring decreased vascular reactivity and baroreflex sensitivity in rat models induced to be hypertensive, as reported by Mendes-Junior et al., (2013). Additionally, Ugusman et al., (2014) have exhibited that Rutin enhances endothelial activities by increasing the generation of nitric oxide in human endothelial cells.

In vitro, Rutin was observed to exhibit a concentration-dependent inhibition of platelet aggregation in rabbit platelets induced by a platelet-activating factor. Furthermore, in a dose-dependent manner, Rutin was also observed to inhibit the increase in intra-platelet-free calcium concentration caused by the platelet-activating factor. These findings were documented by Chen et al., (2002).

1.12.5. Gastrointestinal System

Ethanol, a noxious substance, has been shown by both animal and human studies to inflict damage on the stomach mucosa. According to Szabo & Goldberg, (2009), concentrations of ethanol exceeding 400 ml/l have an impact on the general morphology of the stomach and are linked to mucosal hyperemia, mucosal or submucosal haemorrhage, necrosis, and edoema. The production of free radicals by oxygen may be considered a crucial factor in the development of lesions, as suggested by Pihan et al., (1987) and Szelenyi & Brune, (1988). Prior treatment with Rutin, followed by ethanol administration, yielded considerable protection against necrosis. La

Casa et al., (2000) reported the restoration of glutathione peroxidase levels and an 'antilipoperoxidant effect'. Rutin treatment in rats led to the correction of oxidative stress and metabolic parameters in an ulcer model induced by indomethacin, likely due to the reduced oxidative stress generation, neutrophil infiltration, and replenishment of nitrate/nitrite levels. In addition, Abdel-Raheem, (2010) demonstrated the protective benefits of Rutin through histopathological studies.

1.12.6. Respiratory system

Airway resistance was evaluated in ovalbumin-sensitized conscious guinea pigs in order to investigate the anti-asthmatic activity of Rutin. Specifically, airway opposition during the immediate-phase reaction and the late-phase response were measured following exposure to aerosolized ovalbumin. Histamine resistance, phospholipase A2 reluctance, and eosinophil peroxidase were also examined. Results indicated that Rutin substantially reduced specific airway opposition and immediate-phase responsiveness, while also decreasing the recruitment of neutrophils and eosinophils into the lungs (Jung et al., 2007). Supplementarily to vitamins C and K, Rutin has been suggested for the treatment of whooping cough. Moreover, Rutin is efficacious in the treatment of idiopathic chylothorax in cats and whippets (Gould, 2004; Kopko, 2005; Schuller et al., 2011).

1.13. Aims and Objectives

This research hypothesizes that nanohybrids composed of NCDs and Rutin would demonstrate improvement in cognitive ability due to the pharmacological effects of the hydrophobic drug. This assertion is based on the fact that Rutin possesses the ability to reduce neuroinflammation in rodents of dementia of Alzheimer's type and to confer neuroprotective effects.

- 1) Design and synthesis of NCDs
- 2) Characterization of NCD-Rutin
- 3) Establishment of AD-like animal models
- 4) Evaluation of effectivity of NCD-Rutin using behavioural tests
CHAPTER 2 MATERIALS & METHODOLOGY

2.1. Ethical Approval

Before conducting *in vivo* study, ethical approval (IRB no. 05-2023-ASAB-02/02) was acquired from the NUST-IRB committee of the National University of Sciences and Technology, Islamabad.

2.2. Chemicals

Glucose (BCCF4025, Sigma Aldrich, Switzerland), Ammonia (10314944, Honeywell, Germany), Rutin hydrate (207671-50-9, Macklin, China), dialysis membrane (500 Da cut off, MD55, Scientific Research Special, China), Phosphate Buffered Saline (2810305, MP Biomedicals, France), Dimethyl sulfoxide (67-68-5, Sigma Aldrich, Switzerland) and Ultrapure Millipore water (7732-18-5, Sigma Aldrich, Switzerland). Sodium hydroxide (NaOH) was purchased from a local vendor.

2.3. Preparation of NCDs

Using the uniform heating technique, nitrogen-doped CDs were prepared by dissolving 5 g of glucose in 50 mL of water. Following vigorous swirling, 2.5 mL of ammonia was added to the aforementioned solution. The resulting translucent mixture was subjected to a temperature of 250 °C for a duration of 30 minutes in a laboratory oven. The colour transition of the sample from translucent to pale yellow is indicative of the presence of NCDs. To ensure the complete elimination of any remaining ammonia, the pale-yellow solution was rapidly agitated for an hour after being chilled. After that, pH 7 was preserved by adding NaOH/HCl solution dropwise using a basic pH meter. To eliminate residual unfused small and large molecules, the aqueous solution of NCDs underwent a dialysis process against Millipore water for a duration of 48 hours using a dialysis membrane prior to characterization.

2.4. Preparation of NCDs-Rutin

The dissolution of Rutin in DMSO was amalgamated with the aqueous CD solution using a mass ratio of 1:1. Stirring was performed at room temperature throughout the night while Rutin was being loaded. The resulting solution was subsequently dialyzed for 2 hours to remove any unbound molecules. To acquire NCDs-Rutin in the form of powder, the purified, drug-loaded NCDs were subjected to lyophilization.

2.5. Characterization Of NCDs-Rutin

The morphological structure and chemical composition of prepared, NCDs were characterized using different techniques, i.e., Ultraviolet-Visible (UV-Vis) Spectrophotometer, Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM), and Fourier transform infrared radiation (FTIR).

2.5.1. FTIR

FTIR (Agilent Cary 630, Agilent Technologies, USA) has been employed to detect the functional groups present on the surface of NCDs. The primary constituents of the NCDs under investigation are carbon, hydrogen, nitrogen, and oxygen. The prevalence of carboxyl or carboxylic acid groups and hydroxyl groups on the CDs' surface is a well-established fact, owing to the partial oxidation of a carbon precursor during the creation of CDs. The bonds and functional groups in the sample were analysed by FTIR spectroscopy in a range of 500-4000 cm⁻¹ at 4 cm⁻¹ resolution.

2.5.2. UV-Vis Spectrophotometer

UV-Vis absorption spectrophotometer (UV-1602, BMS, Germany) with a resolution of 1 nm between the range of 200 and 600 nm was used. The binding of NCDs with Rutin was monitored by measuring the spectrum of the reaction mixture in a UV-Visible spectrophotometer with the amount of suspension that is 3 ml of the sample was pipette in a cuvette and analysed at room temperature.

2.5.3. AFM

AFM investigations were conducted using a commercial silicon tip (RTESPA 300, Bruker, USA) with a resonance of 300 kHz and nominal elastic constant of 40 N m⁻¹ on a Multimode 8 Bruker AFM microscope equipped with a Nanoscope V controller. The ScanAsystTM was utilized with a scan size of 3 mm. To prepare the samples, 6 mL of solutions were applied onto a silicon glass slide and subsequently dried at 40 °C in an oven, overnight.

2.6. Haemolytic Assay

The haemolytic assay was implemented as a means of evaluating compatibility with blood. To isolate red blood cells (RBCs), 0.5 ml of whole blood sample was combined with 1 ml of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). This centrifugation process was executed at 10,000 g for a duration of 5 minutes. The RBCs underwent five additional washes with 1 ml of PBS. 0.2 ml of diluted RBC suspension was added to (a) 0.8 ml of the nanoparticle PBS suspension at a concentration of percentages 0.1, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 2, 10, 20, and 30; (b) deionized water (positive group), and (c) PBS (negative group). Following an incubation period of 60 mins at 37°C temperature and centrifugation for five minutes at 10000 g, 100 μ l of the supernatant from all samples was transferred to a 96-well plate. Subsequently, utilizing a microplate reader (Thermo ScientificTM MultiskanTM Sky), the absorbance was measured at 577 nm. The rate of haemolysis was quantified using the haemolytic ratio, which is calculated as follows:

Haemolysis rate (%) =
$$\frac{(OD_{(\text{test})} - OD_{(\text{negative control})})}{(OD_{(\text{Positive control})} - OD_{(\text{negative control})})} \times 100$$

2.7. Animal Testing

Adult male Albino rats (n = 12) were purchased and housed in the animal house of Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB), National University of Sciences & Technology (NUST), Islamabad, under controlled environmental conditions (25 ± 2 °C). Natural light and dark cycles (14 h light and 10 h dark) were followed. Feed and water ad libitum were provided to the animals. They were divided into three groups of 4, designated as Groups 1-3. Group 3 was a control group and Groups 1 and 2 were AlCl₃-treated groups (for 15 days). Group 2 was then treated with a 10 mg/kg dose of Rutin-bound NCDs. PBS was used as a vehicle.

2.7.1. Behavioural Testing

Behaviour tests were performed on the 16th day of the aluminium treatment and one week after administering the NCD-Rutin dose. Animals were moved to the behavioural testing area 30 minutes prior to the beginning of the behaviour test. The tests performed were novel object recognition test, Open field Test, Morris water maze test, and Y maze test.

2.7.1.1. Morris Water Maze (MWM) Test

The maze in this test consists of a pool containing opaque water and a platform submerged underwater. The rats were trained by allowing them to swim for 90 seconds and find the platform.

Each was allowed to remain on it for 10 seconds. Those unable to find the platform were steered to it. The training was given for 5 consecutive days. On the last day of training, the rats' memory was tested without the platform. A video of the performance of each was recorded (Takeuchi et al., 2011).

2.7.1.2. Y-Maze Test

This apparatus consists of three arms of different lengths (8, 30 and 15 cm) at a 120° angle. In the first of these 2-trial tests, the rats were permitted to roam freely in 2 of the arms which are the start arm and the familiar arm for 10 minutes. The third arm, which is the novel arm, was closed. In the second trial, the rats were allowed to roam freely in all three arms for 5 minutes. The time spent in the novel arm was documented in the form of a video. Rats exhibit exploratory behaviour characterized by frequent visits to novel locations. In the Y-maze, rats are expected to alternate between the three arms, transitioning from the "familiar arm" to the "novel arm" and ultimately to the "start arm," while bearing in mind the prior examination of the preceding arms. However, under pathological conditions, rats fail to alternate between the three arms, exhibiting an inability to recall the prior investigation of one arm. The percentage alteration is calculated using the following formula (Takeuchi et al., 2011).

 $\frac{Number of alterations}{Total number of entries} x 100$

2.7.1.3. Novel Object Recognition (NOR) Test

This test focuses on the ability of rats to interact with novel objects rather than familiar objects. Initially, they were allowed to freely explore a behavioural arena box for 5 minutes, a day before the test. They were then trained by placing them in a box having 2 identical objects at specific locations, for 5 minutes. The box was then wiped with ethanol to remove olfactory cues. After a retention time of 24 hours, the rats were tested by replacing the original objects with a novel object and allowed to explore for 5 minutes (Zhang et al., 2012).

2.7.1.4. Open Field Test

The flooring of the hardwood equipment, measuring W100 cm x D100 cm x H40 cm, was partitioned into 16 squares (4x4) white lines. The rats were situated in one of the corners, and the following conduct was observed for a duration of five minutes. (a) The number of squares entered

(including both forelimbs) which counts as one. The animal's examination of the central 4 squares and the external 12 squares next to the wall regions were tallied separately. (b) The act of grooming, which encompasses activities such as licking one's fur, cleaning one's face, and scratching, is also noted. (c) The number of instances of rearing, or the act of sniffing and scanning the area while standing on the hind limbs and intermittently leaning against a wall with the forelegs (Takeuchi et al., 2011).

2.8. Statistical Analysis

The data was statistically analysed by student's t-test or analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test and a *p*-value of <0.05 was considered to be statistically significant. All data are expressed as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM).

CHAPTER 3 RESULTS

3.1. FTIR Analysis

The presented Figure 3.1 indicates the presence of hydroxyl, carboxyl, and carbonyl groups on the surface edges of NCDs. They displayed an absorption peak at 1637.88 cm⁻¹ (C=O) and 1425.82 cm⁻¹ (C-H). The IR absorption peak for hydroxyl (O-H) was observed at 3278.78 cm⁻¹, and the vibration region C=N stretching was noted at 1630 cm⁻¹, as depicted in Figure 3.1.

The vibrational frequency of the important v(C=O) bond in Rutin was discovered to be 1651.62 cm⁻¹. Notably, the benzene ring skeleton in Rutin exhibits v(C=C) stretching bonds at 1595.63 cm⁻¹. The stretching vibrations of the OH/H₂O groups were observed as wide bands at 3342.48 cm⁻¹. NCD-Rutin depicted a peak at 3266.48 cm⁻¹ and 1593.16 cm⁻¹ corresponding to the original samples showing OH groups and C=C bonds.



Figure 3.1: FTIR spectra of NCDs, Rutin and NCD-Rutin. The black line depicts the IR spectra of simple NCDs, red represents the Rutin, while blue shows Rutin-bound NCDs. The yellow

highlighted area depicts the presence of OH groups in the compounds. Green represents the C=O bond and purple shows the C=C bond.

3.2. UV-Vis Spectrophotometry

The UV-Vis spectra of NCDs (Figure 3.2) exhibited distinct absorption peaks at 215, 270 nm and 310 nm. Rutin exhibits two absorption bands, specifically at 360 nm (band I) and 295 nm (band II). NCD-Rutin showed similar peaks to Rutin at 295 nm and 355 nm.



Figure 3.2: UV- Vis spectrum of NCDs, Rutin and NCD-Rutin. The UV spectra depict the peaks of NCDs (black) at 215 nm, 270 nm, and 300 nm, Rutin (red) at 280 nm and 355 nm; and NCD-Rutin (blue) at 295 nm and 360 nm.

3.3. AFM Analysis

The morphology of the synthesised NCDs and NCDs-Rutin was examined using AFM, as depicted in Figure 3.3. The results revealed the existence of <100 nm-sized minute aggregates and individual NCD-Rutin particles. Notably, the height observed of NCD-Rutin is 49 nm.



Figure 3.3: AFM results for NCD-Rutin, depicting topography. (A) shows the particle aggregates on a 1 cm glass slide, with an enlarged image of a specific area where particles can be observed. (B) and (C) exhibit 3D images of the enlarged area depicting the height and thickness of the NCD-Rutin particles

3.4. Haemolytic Test

Different concentrations of the NCD-Rutin were assessed and all of them did not induce significant haemolysis, as indicated in Figure 3.4. The haemolysis rates of NCD-Rutin were observed to be substantially lower than the universally recognized standard of 5%, across a concentration range of 0.1% to 30% (Choi et al., 2011). The haemolysis rate decreased from 10% to 1% and showed a slight increase in 1.5% and 2%.

3.5. Behavioural Tests

3.5.1. MWM Test

The first MWM test revealed that the cognitive processes pertaining to memory and learning were significantly disrupted in the rats induced with AD due to AlCl₃ exposure. The prolonged escape latency in AD animals was indicative of severe impairment in their learning ability. Furthermore, the AlCl₃ challenge exhibited the rats' ability to inhibit their memories and leave the target quadrant promptly.



Figure 3.4: Haemolysis rate (%) of RBCs treated with different concentrations of NCD-Rutin. The OD was checked on 577 nm. Deionized water was used as positive control whereas PBS was used as negative control in this experiment. All the rates lie below 5%, which is as per universally recognized standards (Choi et al., 2011).

3.5.2. Y-Maze Test

Assessment of working memory showed that the percentage alterations (PA(%)), in the Ymaze test, of the AD group was 63% which was statistically significantly lower (p<0.05) than the corresponding mean value in the control group (-20.10 \pm 5.675). In comparison, the mean value of PA% in the control group was 83.14% which was significantly higher (p<0.05) than that of the AD group.



Figure 3.5.1: MWM test (A) Escape latency in 90 seconds measured for 5 days (B) Time spent in target quadrant on test day (C) No. of times rats enter the target quadrant on test day. The escape latency graph shows the declining memory of rats as observed from the seconds spent in searching for the platform submerged in the water. Graphs (B) and (C) depict the memory of the rats searching for the platform in the target quadrant. Significant differences can be observed in the control and diseased groups.



Figure 3.5.2: Y-maze test. (A) PA(%) of both the groups between the three arms of the Y maze (B) No. of entries in the novel arm, (C) No. of entries in the familiar arm. The percentage of alternations was significantly decreased in the diseased group, suggesting that cognitive ability was impaired in AD model rats. Controls (n = 4); AD model rats (n = 8). Evaluated with student t-test.

3.5.3. Open Field Test

Utilizing an open field test, alterations in behaviour among both control and treated animals were discerned and subsequently recorded, as depicted in Figure 3.5.3. Relative to control animals, those affected by AlCl₃-induced AD exhibited, a decrease in rearing frequency, and an increase in grooming frequency. Whereas the control group showed increased rearing frequency and decreased grooming frequency.



Figure 3.5.3: Open Field test. (A) Time spent in peripheral area, (B) Time spent in central area (C) Rearing frequency. Diseased rats spent more time in the peripheral corners of the field instead of exploring the field. AD-like models were also observed to be rearing on hind legs lesser as compared to the control group. The difference in rearing frequency failed to reach significance. Controls (n = 4); AD model rats (n = 8). Evaluated with student t-test.

3.5.4. NOR Test

The interaction between rats and objects is considerably influenced by a variety of item characteristics, encompassing size, shape, substance, presence of protrusions or incursions, surface roughness, and colour brightness. To ensure unbiased selection, we selected items for prescreening that possessed a simple shape, and washable materials (such as odourless plastic or metal), which were equivalent in size to the rats, and had colours with similar brightness. Rats of the control group were observed to explore the novel object more in comparison to those in the diseased group. This depicted that the diseased group showed cognitive impairment by failing to recall that it had already explored the familiar object.



Figure 3.5.4: NOR test. The Graph represents the control group and diseased group, in which the rats explored a novel object and the time they spent exploring was observed. An unpaired t-test was used on the data.

3.6. Behavioral Tests After NCD-Rutin Administration

3.6.1. MWM Test

The results of the escape latency test indicated that the treated rats exhibited a slightly shorter latency in reaching the platform in comparison to the diseased group. However, the treated rats exhibited significant results in the duration spent in the target quadrant, in addition to the number of entries.



Figure 3.6.1: MWM test after NCD-Rutin administration. (A) The escape latency graph shows slightly decreased latency in treated rats when compared to diseased rats. (B) and (C) The time spent and number of entries in the target quadrant is observed to be increased in the treated rats. One-way ANOVA, followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test, was used for statistical analysis. Error bars present SEM (*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001).

3.6.2. Y-Maze test

Only the parameter of time spent in the novel arm showed significant results while the other two did not. It is noteworthy that the treated group did show recovery trends in alterations and entries in the familiar arms.



Figure 3.6.2: Y-Maze test after NCD-Rutin administration. (A) PA% was observed to be increased in treated rats. (B) and (C) Exploring ability in rats can also be observed to have increased. One-way ANOVA, followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test, was used for statistical analysis. Error bars present SEM (*p<0.05, **p<0.01).

3.6.3. Open Field Test

Treated rats were observed to spend more time in the central area than the diseased rats while exploring the field. Whereas diseased rats spent the whole time in the peripheral area.



Figure 3.6.3: Open Field Test after NCD-Rutin administration. (A) Time spent in the central area was observed to be increased in treated rats and vice versa was observed in (B) i.e., time spent in the peripheral area. One-way ANOVA, followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test, was used for statistical analysis. Error bars present SEM (**p<0.01, ***p<0.001).

3.6.4. NOR Test

The results of the test conducted to assess the rats' ability to recall object position or identification, showed no significant difference between the treated and the diseased group. While both groups displayed similar patterns of exploratory behavior, the treated rats exhibited slightly more inclination to jump onto the objects.



Figure 3.6.4: NOR Test after NCD-Rutin administration. The graph represents the control, diseased group and treated group, in which the rats explored a novel object and the time they spent exploring was observed. No significant difference was noted between the treated and the diseased group. One-way ANOVA, followed by Tukey's multiple comparison tests, was used for statistical analysis. Error bars present SEM (*p<0.05).

CHAPTER 4 DISCUSSION

In accordance with a 2016 report by the WHO, abnormal neurological conditions were accountable for over 276 million disability-adjusted life years and approximately 9 million fatalities worldwide (Feigin et al., 2019). The escalating prevalence of neurological illnesses warrants a pressing need for efficacious treatments. However, the blood-brain barrier's remarkably selective semi-permeability impedes the majority of macromolecules, including pharmaceuticals, from accessing the CNS, posing a significant obstacle to neurological illness treatment. Fortunately, recent advancements in nanoparticle technology, particularly in nanoparticlemediated drug transport, have made substantial progress in overcoming the blood-brain barrier. Furthermore, the manifold surface molecules of CDs offer immense potential for conjugation with one or more ligands, serving as CD-based DDS capable of penetrating the BBB to remedy neurological conditions and brain tumours, such as glioblastoma, which has been extensively researched by Leblanc and his colleagues. Currently, most proposed processes lack thorough analysis. To achieve enhanced solutions for the persistent challenges associated with CNS medication delivery, comprehension of these intricate systems is imperative. As drug components, natural flavonoids such as Rutin can be utilized to bind to the CDs and can exhibit synergistic effects against AD.

Rutin's neuroprotective qualities primarily entail the activation of the MAPK pathway and the inhibition of apoptosis, which is induced by $A\beta$ oligomers. Additionally, Rutin has the ability to bolster the survival of neural crest cells by stimulating the ERK2 and PI3K pathways (Wang et al., 2015). Rutin also amplifies the activity of several enzymes with anti-oxidant properties, such as Superoxidase Dismutase, Catalase, and Inhibitor of iNOS Activity (Yu et al., 2015). Furthermore, it significantly restrains the aggregation of Amylin. Rutin also possesses the capacity to substantially diminish the amount of microglial activation instigated by IFN_Y and lipopolysaccharide (Simonyi et al., 2015).

The present study focuses on the production of Rutin-bound NCDs, wherein their capacity to penetrate the BBB is analyzed, and their efficacy in the treatment of AD was observed. The prepared NCD-Rutin complex was characterized using FTIR, UV-Vis Spectrophotometer, and AFM. The resulting spectra (figure 3.1) indicated the presence of hydroxyl, carboxyl, and carbonyl

groups, thereby confirming their exceptional stability and water dispersibility (Guo et al., 2021). They displayed an absorption peak at 1637.88 cm⁻¹, which can be attributed to the asymmetric stretching of carbonyl (C=O), and at 1425.82 cm⁻¹, which corresponds to the C-H symmetric stretching vibration (Dhiman et al., 2019). As reported by Zheng et al. (2016), the IR absorption peak for hydroxyl (O-H) asymmetry stretching was observed at 3278.78 cm⁻¹, and the vibration region C=N stretching was noted at 1630 cm⁻¹, as depicted in Figure 3.1. NCD-Rutin depicted a peak at 3266.48 cm⁻¹ corresponding to the OH group in the complex while a peak at 1593.16 cm⁻¹ matched the original peaks of C=C bonds.

The UV-Vis spectra (Figure 3.2) exhibit three distinct absorption peaks at 215, 270 nm and 310 nm, which can be accredited to the $\pi - \pi *$ transition of C=C, C=N, and C=O bond, respectively. Rutin exhibits two noteworthy absorption bands, specifically at 360 nm and 295 nm, within the ultraviolet/visible region. This observation is consistent with the results from the study conducted by Panhwar & Memon, (2014). NCD-Rutin showed similar peaks to Rutin at 295 nm and 355 nm. The aforementioned bands can be attributed to the $\pi - \pi *$ transition of a benzene ring-conjugated system. By examining the UV-Vis spectra differences between Rutin, NCDs, and NCDs-Rutin, it can be concluded that Rutin has been successfully anchored to the surface of GluCDs. AFM results presented the morphology of the synthesised NCDs and NCDs-Rutin, as depicted in Figure 3.3. The results revealed the existence of <100 nm-sized minute aggregates and individual NCD-Rutin particles. Notably, the height observed of NCD-Rutin is 49 nm and the average size is 25 ± 2 nm. These aggregates were formed due to the drying process undergone by the sample prior to examination. The AFM findings intimate that NCD-Rutin is more prone to aggregating into larger structures as compared to NCDs.

The haemolysis rates of NCD-Rutin were observed to be substantially lower than the universally recognized standard of 5%, across a concentration range of 0.1% to 30%. The rates decreased from 10% to 1% and showed a slight increase in 1.5% and 2% concentration. The behavioural test performed to confirm the induction of Alzheimer's disease using AlCl₃ presented results indicating that the diseased rats moderately lost their cognitive function. In the MWM test, diseased rats spent less time in the target quadrant as compared to the control group which not only spent more time but also exhibited an increased number of entries in the target quadrant. An escape latency graph was also deduced from the test, which confirmed that diseased rats' cognitive capability was impaired. Assessment of spatial working memory showed that PA%, in the Y-maze

test, in the AD group was 63% which was statistically significantly lower (p<0.05) than the corresponding mean value in the control group (-20.10 ± 5.675). On the other hand, the mean value of PA% in the control group was 83.14% which was significantly higher (p<0.05) than that of the AD group. In the graph depicting the number of alterations, the control group altered in all three arms of the Y-maze more than the diseased group, which tended to return to the same arm they had already explored. Even though the graph of the number of entries showed very little difference between both the groups, it does not invalidate the fact that the cognitive ability of the rats was impaired because entries into arms which was already explored were also considered.

Utilizing an open field test, alterations in behaviour among both control and treated animals were discerned and subsequently recorded, as depicted in Figure 3.5.3. The interaction between rats and objects was observed in the NOR test. Rats of the control group explored the novel object more in comparison to those in the diseased group. This depicted that the diseased group showed cognitive impairment by failing to recall that it had already explored the familiar object.

The behavioural tests were repeated after drug administration. The results of the escape latency test indicated that the treated rats exhibited a slightly shorter latency in reaching the platform in comparison to the diseased group. However, the treated rats exhibited significant results in the time spent in the target quadrant, in addition to the number of entries. In the Y-maze test, time spent in the novel arm showed significant results while the other two did not. It is noteworthy that the treated group did show recovery trends in alterations and entries in the familiar arms. Open field test showed that the treated rats spent more time in the central area than the diseased rats while exploring the field. Whereas diseased rats spent the whole time in the peripheral area. The results of the NOR test conducted to assess the rats' ability to recall object position or identification, showed no significant difference between the treated and the diseased group. While both groups displayed similar patterns of exploratory behaviour, the treated rats exhibited slightly more inclination to jump onto the objects.

The results indicate that NCDs function as a smart approach to administering drugs such as Rutin for AD, affording the ability to monitor progress and alter delivery. Despite having knowledge of the exceptional properties of NCD-Rutin, several issues need to be resolved to direct their future applications. In particular, heightened focus should be placed on enhancing the optical performance of NCD-Rutin. To modify their optical characteristics, it is imperative to first synthesize a diverse range of NCDs with tunable compositions, sizes, forms, crystallinity, and electrical structures. Despite notable progress in the preparation of multifunctional CDs, the majority of documented procedures are time-consuming, environmentally unfavourable, and produce minimal quantities of product. As such, it is crucial to establish an effective, manageable, and sustainable synthetic technique to produce NCDs in significant quantities and of superior quality.

Secondly, it is noteworthy that in the majority of CD types, the PL properties, particularly those with blue or green fluorescence, have been extensively studied. Nevertheless, the observation of CDs that exhibit NIR fluorescence, phosphorescence, electrochemiluminescence, and surfaceenhanced Raman scattering capabilities is a rare occurrence. These optical attributes of CDs render them more suitable for applications such as bioimaging, light emission, and highly sensitive sensing. Thus, the proficient preparation of distinctive NCDs with such unique optical characteristics is of great importance for potential applications.

Thirdly, it is imperative to clarify the mechanism underlying the optical characteristics of CDs. The examination of the PL mechanism of CDs has garnered considerable attention due to its association with the edge and surface states, as well as the quantum confinement effect. However, there exists an insufficiency of robust data to recommend a more widely accepted PL method for CDs. Most critically, the mechanics underlying the other optical features of CDs remain largely unexplored. To comprehensively comprehend the mechanism of CDs' optical qualities, additional theoretical and experimental research must be undertaken.

Finally, an efficacious approach to ameliorate the optical characteristics of CDs involves their hybridization with other advantageous materials. In this regard, it is imperative to regulate the surface functionalization and interfacial impact of CDs-based hybrids. Furthermore, a considerably greater focus is required to scrutinize the correlation between the optical properties and their interfacial interactions, including theoretical calculations and contemporary characterization techniques. An exhaustive comprehension of NCD-Rutin optical traits will facilitate the emergence of numerous innovative applications. Moreover, CDs are deemed as one of the environmentally friendly and safest materials, thereby rendering photoelectronic applications for CDs viable.

CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSION

In this particular investigation, NCD-Rutin was prepared through the carbonization process. The carbon dots that were formed during this procedure were also subjected to a comprehensive characterization process. Structural characterization revealing the size and surface functional groups validated the binding of NCDs and Rutin and that it has the capability of crossing the BBB. The water dispersibility of NCD-Rutin was confirmed through FTIR analysis that revealed the existence of hydroxyl and carboxyl functional groups. AFM indicated the average size of the particle to be 25 ± 2 nm. These NCD-Rutin particles exhibited exceptional biocompatibility as implied by the hemolysis test. The rates were observed to be substantially lower than the universally recognized standard of 5%, with the maximum rate falling under 2.4%. *In vivo* tests also demonstrate positive results. In adult male albino rat models, cognitive conditions before and after administration of NCD-Rutin were determined. Treated rats indicated improved results in comparison to diseased rats. No visible toxicity was observed in the rats. Consequently, these NCD-Rutin might serve as a novel platform, exhibiting potential in the domain of therapeutics for addressing AD.

REFERENCES

- Abdel-Raheem, I. T. (2010). Gastroprotective Effect of Rutin against Indomethacin-Induced Ulcers in Rats. Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology, 107(3), 742–750.
- Agab Mohammed Hassan, K., Imran Ansari, M., Mujtaba, A., Ali Mujtaba, M., M Hassan, K. A., Imran, M., Author, C., & Professor, A. (2018). Chitosan-alginate nanoparticles as a novel drug delivery system for Rutin. *Int. J. Adv. Biotechnol. Res, researchgate.Net*, 9(1), 1895–1903.
- Aisen, P., Marin, D., Altstiel, L., C. G.-D., and G., & 1996. (1996). A pilot study of prednisone in Alzheimer's disease. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*.
- Aisen, P. S., Davis, K. L., Berg, J. D., Schafer, K., Campbell, K., Thomas, R. G., Weiner, M. F., Farlow, M. R., Sano, M., Grundman, M., & Thal, L. J. (2000). A randomized controlled trial of prednisone in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, 54(3), 588–588.
- Ajmal, M., Yunus, U., Graham, R. M., & Leblanc, R. M. (2019). Design, Synthesis, and Targeted Delivery of Fluorescent 1,2,4-Triazole-Peptide Conjugates to Paediatric Brain Tumor Cells. ACS Omega, 4(27), 22280–22291.
- Al-Rejaie, S. S., Aleisa, A. M., Sayed-Ahmed, M. M., Al-Shabanah, O. A., Abuohashish, H. M., Ahmed, M. M., Al-Hosaini, K. A., & Hafez, M. M. (2013). Protective effect of Rutin on the antioxidant genes expression in hypercholesterolemic male Westar rat. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 13.
- Altomare, D., Wilde, A. (2019). Applying the ATN scheme in a memory clinic population: the ABIDE project. *Neurology, AAN Enterprises*.
- Amsterdam, A. C., Van Maurik, I. S., Phd, B., Bouwman, F. H., Visser, P. J., Van Der Flier, W. M., Berkhof, J., Van, W. M., Vos, S J, Verhey, F., Van Maurik, I. S., Vos, S. J., Bos, I., Bouwman, F. H., Teunissen, C. E., Scheltens, P., Barkhof, F., Frolich, L., Kornhuber, J., Berkhof, J. (2019). Biomarker-based prognosis for people with mild cognitive impairment (ABIDE): a modelling study. *Articles Lancet Neurol*, 18, 1034–1078.
- Andersen, K., Launer, L. J., Dewey, M. E., Letenneur, L., Ott, A., Copeland, J. R. M., Dartigues, J. F., Kragh-Sorensen, P., Baldereschi, M., Brayne, C., Lobo, A., Martinez-Lage, J. M., Stijnen, T., & Hofman, A. (1999). Gender differences in the incidence of AD and vascular dementia. *Neurology*, 53(9), 1992–1992.
- Andrieu, S., Guyonnet, S., Coley, N., Cantet, C., Bonnefoy, M., Bordes, S., Bories, L., Cufi, M. N., Dantoine, T., Dartigues, J. F., Desclaux, F., Gabelle, A., Gasnier, Y., Pesce, A., Sudres, K., Touchon, J., Robert, P., Rouaud, O., Legrand, P., Olivier-Abbal, P. (2017). Effect of long-term omega 3 polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation with or without multidomain intervention on cognitive function in elderly adults with memory complaints (MAPT): a randomised, placebocontrolled trial. *The Lancet Neurology*, *16*(5), 377–389.

- Ang-Lee, M. K., Moss, J., & Yuan, C. S. (2001). Herbal medicines and perioperative care. JAMA, 286(2), 208–216.
- Awaad, A. S., El-Meligy, R. M., Qenawy, S. A., Atta, A. H., & Soliman, G. A. (2011). Antiinflammatory, antinociceptive and antipyretic effects of some desert plants. *Journal of Saudi Chemical Society*, 15(4), 367–373.
- Bellenguez, C., Charbonnier, C., Grenier-Boley, B., Quenez, O., Le Guennec, K., Nicolas, G., Chauhan, G., Wallon, D., Rousseau, S., Richard, A. C., Boland, A., Bourque, G., Munter, H. M., Olaso, R., Meyer, V., Rollin-Sillaire, A., Pasquier, F., Letenneur, L., Redon, R., ... Jurici, S. (2017). Contribution to Alzheimer's disease risk of rare variants in TREM2, SORL1, and ABCA7 in 1779 cases and 1273 controls. *Neurobiology of Aging*, *59*, 220
- Bilensoy, E. (2010). Cationic nanoparticles for cancer therapy. *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery*, 7(7), 795–809.
- Bishnoi, M., Chopra, K., & Kulkarni, S. K. (2007). Protective effect of Rutin, a polyphenolic flavonoid against haloperidol-induced orofacial dyskinesia and associated behavioural, biochemical and neurochemical changes. *Fundamental & Clinical Pharmacology*, 21(5), 521–529.
- Bores, G., Huger, F., Petko, W. (1996). Pharmacological evaluation of novel Alzheimer's disease therapeutics: acetylcholinesterase inhibitors related to galanthamine. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*
- Breitner, J. C. S., Gau, B. A., Welsh, K. A., Plassman, B. L., Mc Donald, W. M., Helms, M. J., & Anthony, J. C. (1994). Inverse association of anti-inflammatory treatments and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, 44(2), 227–227.
- Burgess, A., & Hynynen, K. (2014). Drug delivery across the blood-brain barrier using focused ultrasound. *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery*, 11(5), 711.
- Busche, M. A., & Hyman, B. T. (2020). Synergy between amyloid-β and tau in Alzheimer's disease. *Nature Neuroscience*, *23*(10), 1183–1193.
- Cai, Q., Wang, L., Deng, G., Liu, J., Chen, Q., & Chen, Z. (2016). Systemic delivery to central nervous system by engineered PLGA nanoparticles. *American Journal of Translational Research*, 8(2), 749.
- Cao, L., Wang, X., Meziani, M. J., Lu, F., Wang, H., Luo, P. G., Lin, Y., Harruff, B. A., Veca, L. M., Murray, D., Xie, S. Y., & Sun, Y. P. (2007). Carbon dots for multiphoton bioimaging. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 129(37), 11318–11319.
- Charante, E. van, Richard, E., & Lancet, L. E.-T. (2016). Effectiveness of a 6-year multidomain vascular care intervention to prevent dementia (preDIVA): a cluster-randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet*.
- Chattopadhyay, R. R. (1993). Hypoglycaemic effect of Ocimum sanctum leaf extract in normal and streptozotocin diabetic rats. *Indian Journal of Experimental Biology*, *31*(11), 891–893.

- Chen, W. mei, Jin, M., & Wu, W. (2002). Experimental study on inhibitory effect of Rutin against platelet activation induced by platelet activating factor in rabbits. *Chinese Journal of Integrated Traditional and Western Medicine*, 22(4), 283–285.
- Choi, J., Reipa, V., Hitchins, V. M., Goering, P. L., & Malinauskas, R. A. (2011). Physicochemical Characterization and In Vitro Hemolysis Evaluation of Silver Nanoparticles. *Toxicological Sciences*, 123(1), 133–143.
- Chung, Y. J., Lee, B. Il, & Park, C. B. (2019). Multifunctional carbon dots as a therapeutic nano agent for modulating Cu(ii)-mediated β-amyloid aggregation. *Nanoscale*, *11*(13), 6297–6306.
- Cummings, J., Lee, G., Ritter, A., Sabbagh, M., & Zhong, K. (2019). Alzheimer's disease drug development pipeline: 2019. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: Translational Research & Clinical Interventions*, 5, 272–293.
- Da Mesquita, S., Louveau, A., Vaccari, A., Smirnov, I., Cornelison, R. C., Kingsmore, K. M., Contarino, C., Onengut-Gumuscu, S., Farber, E., Raper, D., Viar, K. E., Powell, R. D., Baker, W., Dabhi, N., Bai, R., Cao, R., Hu, S., Rich, S. S., Munson, J. M., Kipnis, J. (2018). Functional aspects of meningeal lymphatics in ageing and Alzheimer's disease. *Nature 2018 560:7717*, 560(7717), 185–191.
- Da Silva, R. R., De Oliveira, T. T., Nagem, T. J., Da Silva Pinto, A., Teixeira Albino, L. F., De Almeida, M. R., De Moraes, G. H. K., & Pinto, J. G. (2001). Efeito hipolipidêmico dos flavonóides naringina e rutina. *Archivos Latinoamericanos de Nutricion*, *51*(3), 258–264.
- Dae, W. K., In, K. H., Soon, S. L., Yoo, K. Y., Li, H., Young, S. K., Dae, Y. K., Won, K. M., Kim, D. W., & Won, M. H. (2009). Germinated Buckwheat extract decreases blood pressure and nitrotyrosine immunoreactivity in aortic endothelial cells in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Phytotherapy Research*, 23(7), 993–998.
- Davis, K. L., Mohs, R. C., Marin, D., Purohit, D. P., Perl, D. P., Lantz, M., Austin, G., & Haroutunian, V. (1999). Cholinergic Markers in Elderly Patients with Early Signs of Alzheimer Disease. *JAMA*, 281(15), 1401–1406.
- De Medeiros, T. V., Manioudakis, J., Noun, F., Macairan, J. R., Victoria, F., & Naccache, R. (2019). Microwave-assisted synthesis of carbon dots and their applications. *Journal of Materials Chemistry C*, 7(24), 7175–7195.
- De Strooper, B., & Karran, E. (2016). The Cellular Phase of Alzheimer's Disease. *Cell*, 164(4), 603–615.
- Deb, P., Sharma, S., & Hassan, K. M. (2010). Pathophysiologic mechanisms of acute ischemic stroke: An overview with emphasis on therapeutic significance beyond thrombolysis. *Pathophysiology*, *17*(3), 197–218.
- Delrieu, J., Payoux, P., Carrié, I., Cantet, C., Weiner, M., Vellas, B., & Andrieu, S. (2019). Multidomain intervention and/or omega-3 in nondemented elderly subjects according to amyloid status. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 15(11), 1392–1401.

- Deming, Y., Filipello, F., Cignarella, F., Cantoni, C., Hsu, S., Mikesell, R., Li, Z., Del-Aguila, J. L., Dube, U., Farias, F. G., Bradley, J., Budde, J., Ibanez, L., Fernandez, M. V., Blennow, K., Zetterberg, H., Heslegrave, A., Johansson, P. M., Svensson, J., Cruchaga, C. (2019). The MS4A gene cluster is a key modulator of soluble TREM2 and Alzheimer's disease risk. *Science Translational Medicine*, 11(505).
- DeTure, M. A., & Dickson, D. W. (2019). The neuropathological diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease. Molecular Neurodegeneration, 14(1), 32.
- Dhas, N., Kudarha, R., Garkal, A., Ghate, V., Sharma, S., Panzade, P., Khot, S., Chaudhari, P., Singh, A., Paryani, M., Lewis, S., Garg, N., Singh, N., Bangar, P., & Mehta, T. (2021). Molybdenumbased hetero-nanocomposites for cancer therapy, diagnosis and biosensing application: Current advancement and future breakthroughs. *Journal of Controlled Release : Official Journal of the Controlled Release Society*, 330, 257–283.
- Dhiman, A., Singh, D., Fatima, K., & Zia, G. (2019). Development of Rutin Ethosomes for Enhanced Skin Permeation. *International Journal of Traditional Medicine and Applications*, *1*(1), 4–10.
- Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, 4th ed. (1994). In *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, 4th ed.* American Psychiatric Publishing, Inc.
- Doraiswamy, P. M., Sperling, R. A., Coleman, R. E., Johnson, K. A., Reiman, E. M., Davis, M. D., Grundman, M., Sabbagh, M. N., Sadowsky, C. H., Fleisher, A. S., Carpenter, A., Clark, C. M., Joshi, A. D., Mintun, M. A., Skovronsky, D. M., & Pontecorvo, M. J. (2012). *Amyloid-assessed by florbetapir F 18 PET and 18-month cognitive decline A multicenter study*.
- Ebenau, J. L., Timmers, T., Wesselman, L. M. P., Verberk, I. M. W., Verfaillie, S. C. J., Slot, R. E. R., Van Harten, A. C., Teunissen, C. E., Barkhof, F., Van Den Bosch, K. A., Van Leeuwenstijn, M., Tomassen, J., Braber, A. Den, Visser, P. J., Prins, N. D., Sikkes, S. A. M., Scheltens, P., Van Berckel, B. N. M., & Van Der Flier, W. M. (2020). ATN classification and clinical progression in subjective cognitive decline. *Neurology*, 95(1), e46–e58.
- Feigin, V. L., Nichols, E., Alam, T., Bannick, M. S., Beghi, E., Blake, N., Culpepper, W. J., Dorsey, E. R., Elbaz, A., Ellenbogen, R. G., Fisher, J. L., Fitzmaurice, C., Giussani, G., Glennie, L., James, S. L., Johnson, C. O., Kassebaum, N. J., Logroscino, G., Marin, B., Vos, T. (2019). Global, regional, and national burden of neurological disorders, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *The Lancet Neurology*, *18*(5), 459–480.
- Fleisher, A. S., Chen, K., Quiroz, Y. T., Jakimovich, L. J., Gutierrez Gomez, M., Langois, C. M., Langbaum, J. B. S., Roontiva, A., Thiyyagura, P., Lee, W., Ayutyanont, N., Lopez, L., Moreno, S., Muñoz, C., Tirado, V., Acosta-Baena, N., Fagan, A. M., Giraldo, M., Garcia, G., Reiman, E. M. (2015). Associations between biomarkers and age in the presenilin 1 E280A autosomal dominant Alzheimer disease kindred: A cross-sectional study. *JAMA Neurology*, 72(3), 316–324.
- Frigerio, C. S., Wolfs, L., Fattorelli, N., Perry, V. H., Fiers, M., & De Strooper, B. (2019). The major risk factors for Alzheimer's disease: age, sex, and genes modulate the microglia response to Aβ plaques. *Cell Reports*, 2019, 27, 1293–1306.

- Fruijtier, A. D., Visser, L. N. C., Van Maurik, I. S., Zwan, M. D., Bouwman, F. H., Van Der Flier, W. M., & Smets, E. M. A. (2019). ABIDE Delphi study: Topics to discuss in diagnostic consultations in memory clinics. *Alzheimer's Research and Therapy*, 11(1), 1–9.
- Gao, S., Hendrie, H. C., Hall, K. S., & Hui, S. (1998). The Relationships Between Age, Sex, and the Incidence of Dementia and Alzheimer Disease: A Meta-analysis. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 55(9), 809–815.
- Gatz, M., Reynolds, C. A., Fratiglioni, L., Johansson, B., Mortimer, J. A., Berg, S., Fiske, A., & Pedersen, N. L. (2006). Role of Genes and Environments for Explaining Alzheimer Disease. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *63*(2), 168–174.
- Gharbavi, M., Amani, J., Kheiri-Manjili, H., Danafar, H., & Sharafi, A. (2018). Niosome: A Promising Nanocarrier for Natural Drug Delivery through Blood-Brain Barrier. *Advances in Pharmacological Sciences*.
- Ghosh, S. A., Kumar, V. B., Fixler, D., Dubinsky, Z., Gedanken, A., & Iluz, D. (2017). Nitrogen-doped carbon dots prepared from bovine serum albumin to enhance algal astaxanthin production. *Algal Research*, *23*, 161–165.
- Gonçalves, C., Santos, M, M. G.-P. (2013). Flavonoid Rutin increases thyroid iodide uptake in rats.
- Gong, X., Zhang, Q., Gao, Y., Shuang, S., Choi, M. M. F., & Dong, C. (2016). Phosphorus and Nitrogen Dual-Doped Hollow Carbon Dot as a Nanocarrier for Doxorubicin Delivery and Biological Imaging. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 8(18), 11288–11297.
- Gould, L. (2004). The medical management of idiopathic chylothorax in a domestic long-haired cat. *Canadian Veterinary Journal*, 45(1), 51–54.
- Gremer, L., Schölzel, D., Schenk, C., Reinartz, E., Labahn, J., Ravelli, R. B. G., Tusche, M., Lopez-Iglesias, C., Hoyer, W., Heise, H., Willbold, D., & Schröder, G. F. (2017). Fibril structure of amyloid-β(1–42) by cryo–electron microscopy. *Science*, 358(6359), 116–119.
- Griciuc, A., Patel, S., Federico, A. N., Khoury, J. El, Colonna, M., & Tanzi Correspondence, R. E. (2019). TREM2 acts downstream of CD33 in modulating microglial pathology in Alzheimer's disease, 103, 820–835.
- Guardia, T., Rotelli, A. E., Juarez, A. O., & Pelzer, L. E. (2001). Anti-inflammatory properties of plant flavonoids. Effects of rutin, quercetin and hesperidin on adjuvant arthritis in rat. *Il Farmaco*, 56(9), 683–687.
- Gullón, B., Lú-Chau, T. A., Moreira, M. T., Lema, J. M., & Eibes, G. (2017). Rutin: A review on extraction, identification and purification methods, biological activities and approaches to enhance its bioavailability. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 67, 220–235.
- Guo, L., Yan, H., Yan, L., Bai, L., Niu, S., & Zhao, Y. (2021). A hyperbranched polysiloxane containing carbon dots with near white light emission. *Polymer Chemistry*, *12*(24), 3582–3591.

- Han, Y. (2009). Rutin has therapeutic effect on septic arthritis caused by Candida albicans. *International Immunopharmacology*, 9(2), 207–211.
- Hasselmann, J., Coburn, M., England, W., Neuron, D. V., (2019). Development of a chimeric model to study and manipulate human microglia *in vivo*. *Cell.Com*.
- Horcajada, M., Sanchez, C., Scalfo, F., & P. D.O. (2015). Oleuropein or rutin consumption decreases the spontaneous development of osteoarthritis in the Hartley guinea pig. *Elsevier*.
- Jack, C., Holtzman, D., & Sperling, R. (2019). Dementia is not synonymous with Alzheimer's disease. *Science Translational Medicine*, 11(522).
- Jack, C. R., Bennett, D. A., Blennow, K., Carrillo, M. C., Dunn, B., Haeberlein, S. B., Holtzman, D. M., Jagust, W., Jessen, F., Karlawish, J., Liu, E., Molinuevo, J. L., Montine, T., Phelps, C., Rankin, K. P., Rowe, C. C., Scheltens, P., Siemers, E., Snyder, H. M., Silverberg, N. (2018). NIA-AA Research Framework: Toward a biological definition of Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 14(4), 535–562.
- Jaleel, J. A., & Pramod, K. (2018). Artful and multifaceted applications of carbon dot in biomedicine. Journal of Controlled Release : Official Journal of the Controlled Release Society, 269, 302–321.
- Jansen, I. E., Savage, J. E., Watanabe, K., Bryois, J., Williams, D. M., Steinberg, S., Sealock, J., Karlsson, I. K., Hägg, S., Athanasiu, L., Voyle, N., Proitsi, P., Witoelar, A., Stringer, S., Aarsland, D., Almdahl, I. S., Andersen, F., Bergh, S., Bettella, F., ... Posthuma, D. (2019). Genome-wide meta-analysis identifies new loci and functional pathways influencing Alzheimer's disease risk. *Nature Genetics* 2019 51:3, 51(3), 404–413.
- Javed, H., Khan, M. M., Ahmad, A., Vaibhav, K., Ahmad, M. E., Khan, A., Ashafaq, M., Islam, F., Siddiqui, M. S., Safhi, M. M., & Islam, F. (2012). Rutin prevents cognitive impairments by ameliorating oxidative stress and neuroinflammation in rat model of sporadic dementia of Alzheimer type. *Neuroscience*, 210, 340–352.
- Jhonsi, M. A., Ananth, D. A., Nambirajan, G., Sivasudha, T., Yamini, R., Bera, S., & Kathiravan, A. (2018). Antimicrobial activity, cytotoxicity and DNA binding studies of carbon dots. *Spectrochimica Acta. Part A, Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy*, 196, 295–302.
- Kalgaonkar, S., Gross, H. B., Yokoyama, W., & Keen, C. L. (2010). Effects of a Flavonol-Rich Diet on Select Cardiovascular Parameters in a Golden Syrian Hamster Model. 13(1), 108–115.
- Kappe, C. O. (2004). Controlled microwave heating in modern organic synthesis. *Angewandte Chemie*, *43*(46), 6250–6284.
- Karch, C. M., & Goate, A. M. (2015). Alzheimer's Disease Risk Genes and Mechanisms of Disease Pathogenesis. *Biological Psychiatry*, 77(1), 43–51.
- Keren-Shaul, H., Spinrad, A., Weiner, A., Matcovitch-Natan, O., Dvir-Szternfeld, R., Ulland, T. K., David, E., Baruch, K., Lara-Astaiso, D., Toth, B., Itzkovitz, S., Colonna, M., Schwartz, M., & Amit, I. (2017). A Unique Microglia Type Associated with Restricting Development of Alzheimer's Disease. *Cell*, 169(7), 1276-1290.e17.

- Khan, M. M., Ahmad, A., Ishrat, T., Khuwaja, G., Srivastawa, P., Khan, M. B., Raza, S. S., Javed, H., Vaibhav, K., Khan, A., & Islam, F. (2009). Rutin protects the neural damage induced by transient focal ischemia in rats. *Brain Research*, 1292, 123–135.
- Kivipelto, M., Mangialasche, F., & Ngandu, T. (2018). Lifestyle interventions to prevent cognitive impairment, dementia and Alzheimer disease. *Nature Reviews Neurology 2018 14:11*, *14*(11), 653–666.
- Knapp, M. J., Knopman, D. S., Solomon, P. R., Pendlebury, W. W., Davis, C. S., Gracon, S. I., Apter, J. T., Lazarus, C. N., Baker, K. E., Barnett, M., Baumel, B., Eisner, L. S., Bennett, D., Forchetti, C., Levin, A., Blass, J. P., Nolan, K. A., Gaines, E. R., Relkin, N., ... Kelley, C. K. (1994). A 30-Week Randomized Controlled Trial of High-Dose Tacrine in Patients with Alzheimer's Disease. *JAMA*, 271(13), 985–991.
- Koper, M. J., Van Schoor, E., Ospitalieri, S., Vandenberghe, R., Vandenbulcke, M., von Arnim, C. A. F., Tousseyn, T., Balusu, S., De Strooper, B., & Thal, D. R. (2020). Necrosome complex detected in granulovacuolar degeneration is associated with neuronal loss in Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neuropathologica*, 139(3), 463–484.
- Kopko, S. H. (2005). The use of rutin in a cat with idiopathic chylothorax. *Canadian Veterinary Journal*, 46(8), 729–731.
- La Casa, C., Villegas, I., Alarcón De La Lastra, C., Motilva, V., & Martín Calero, M. J. (2000). Evidence for protective and antioxidant properties of rutin, a natural flavone, against ethanol induced gastric lesions. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 71(1–2), 45–53.
- Lapham, E. V., Kozma, C., & Weiss, J. O. (1996). Genetic discrimination: Perspectives of consumers. Science, 274(5287), 621–624.
- Launer, L., Andersen, K., Dewey, M., Letenneur, L., Neurology, A. O. (2014). Rates and risk factors for dementia and Alzheimer's disease: results from EURODEM pooled analyses. *AAN Enterprises*
- Leyns, C. E. G., Gratuze, M., Narasimhan, S., Jain, N., Koscal, L. J., Jiang, H., Manis, M., Colonna, M., Lee, V. M. Y., Ulrich, J. D., & Holtzman, D. M. (2019). TREM2 function impedes tau seeding in neuritic plaques. *Nature Neuroscience 2019 22:8*, 22(8), 1217–1222.
- Leyns, C. E. G., Ulrich, J. D., Finn, M. B., Stewart, F. R., Koscal, L. J., Serrano, J. R., Robinson, G. O., Anderson, E., Colonna, M., & Holtzman, D. M. (2017). TREM2 deficiency attenuates neuroinflammation and protects against neurodegeneration in a mouse model of tauopathy. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 114(43), 11524– 11529.
- Li, S., Peng, Z., Dallman, J., Baker, J., Othman, A. M., Blackwelder, P. L., & Leblanc, R. M. (2016). Crossing the blood-brain-barrier with transferrin conjugated carbon dots: A zebrafish model study. *Colloids and Surfaces. B, Biointerfaces*, 145, 251–256.

- Liu, Y., Liu, J., Zhang, J., Li, X., Lin, F., Zhou, N., Yang, B., & Lu, L. (2018). Noninvasive Brain Tumor Imaging Using Red Emissive Carbonized Polymer Dots across the Blood-Brain Barrier. ACS Omega, 3(7), 7888–7896.
- Liu, Y., Xu, L. P., Wang, Q., Yang, B., & Zhang, X. (2018). Synergistic Inhibitory Effect of GQDs-Tramiprosate Covalent Binding on Amyloid Aggregation. ACS Chemical Neuroscience, 9(4), 817–823.
- Liyanage, P. Y., Graham, R. M., Pandey, R. R., Chusuei, C. C., Mintz, K. J., Zhou, Y., Harper, J. K., Wu, W., Wikramanayake, A. H., Vanni, S., & Leblanc, R. M. (2019). Carbon Nitride Dots: A Selective Bioimaging Nanomaterial. *Bioconjugate Chemistry*, 30(1), 111–123.
- Lloyd-Jones, D., Adams, R. J., Brown, T. M., Carnethon, M., Dai, S., De Simone, G., Ferguson, T. B., Ford, E., Furie, K., & Gillespie, C. (2010). American heart association statistics committee and stroke statistics subcommittee. *Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics—2010 Update: A Report from the American Heart Association. Circulation*, 121(7), 46–215.
- Long, J. M., & Holtzman, D. M. (2019). Alzheimer Disease: An Update on Pathobiology and Treatment Strategies. *Cell*, *179*(2), 312–339.
- Lu, S., Guo, S., Xu, P., Li, X., Zhao, Y., Gu, W., & Xue, M. (2016). Hydrothermal synthesis of nitrogendoped carbon dots with real-time live-cell imaging and blood-brain barrier penetration capabilities. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, *11*, 6325–6336.
- Lu, T., Aron, L., Zullo, J., Pan, Y., Kim, H., Chen, Y., Yang, T. H., Kim, H. M., Drake, D., Liu, X. S., Bennett, D. A., Colaiácovo, M. P., & Yankner, B. A. (2014). REST and stress resistance in ageing and Alzheimer's disease. *Nature 2014 507:7493*, 507(7493), 448–454.
- MA Raskind. (1998). Psychopharmacology of noncognitive abnormal behaviors in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*.
- Machado, D. G., Bettio, L. E. B., Cunha, M. P., Santos, A. R. S., Pizzolatti, M. G., Brighente, I. M. C., & Rodrigues, A. L. S. (2008). Antidepressant-like effect of rutin isolated from the ethanolic extract from Schinus molle L. in mice: Evidence for the involvement of the serotonergic and noradrenergic systems. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 587(1–3), 163–168.
- Mainzen Prince, P. S., & Kamalakkannan, N. (2006). Rutin improves glucose homeostasis in streptozotocin diabetic tissues by altering glycolytic and gluconeogenic enzymes. *Journal of Biochemical and Molecular Toxicology*, 20(2), 96–102.
- Mancuso, R., Van Den Daele, J., Fattorelli, N., Wolfs, L., Balusu, S., Burton, O., Liston, A., Sierksma, A., Fourne, Y., Poovathingal, S., Arranz-Mendiguren, A., Sala Frigerio, C., Claes, C., Serneels, L., Theys, T., Perry, V. H., Verfaillie, C., Fiers, M., & De Strooper, B. (2019). Stem-cell-derived human microglia transplanted in mouse brain to study human disease. *Nature Neuroscience 2019* 22:12, 22(12), 2111–2116.

- Martin Prince, A., Wimo, A., Guerchet, M., Gemma-Claire Ali, M., Wu, Y.-T., Prina, M., Yee Chan, K., & Xia, Z. (2015). World Alzheimer Report 2015 The Global Impact of Dementia An Analysis of Prevalence, Incidence, Cost and Trends.
- McKhann, G., Drachman, D., Folstein, M., Katzman, R., Price, D., & Stadlan, E. M. (1984). Clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, 34(7), 939–939.
- Mehlman, M. J., Kodishj', E. D., Whitehouse, P., Zinn, A. B., Sollitto, S., Berger, J., Chiao, E. J., Dosick, M. S., & Cassidy, S. B. (1996). The need for anonymous genetic counselling and testing. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 58, 393–397.
- Mendes-Junior, L. das G., Monteiro, M. M. de O., Carvalho, A. dos S., de Queiroz, T. M., & Braga, V. de A. (2013). Oral supplementation with the rutin improves cardiovagal baroreflex sensitivity and vascular reactivity in hypertensive rats, *38*(11), 1099–1106.
- Mendez, M. F. (2017). Early-Onset Alzheimer Disease. Neurologic Clinics, 35(2), 263-281.
- Mintz, K. J., Guerrero, B., & Leblanc, R. M. (2018). Photoinduced Electron Transfer in Carbon Dots with Long-Wavelength Photoluminescence. *Journal of Physical Chemistry C*, 122(51), 29507– 29515.
- Mintz, K. J., Mercado, G., Zhou, Y., Ji, Y., Hettiarachchi, S. D., Liyanage, P. Y., Pandey, R. R., Chusuei, C. C., Dallman, J., & Leblanc, R. M. (2019). Tryptophan carbon dots and their ability to cross the blood-brain barrier. *Colloids and Surfaces. B, Biointerfaces*, 176, 488–493.
- Mintz, K. J., Zhou, Y., & Leblanc, R. M. (2019). Recent development of carbon quantum dots regarding their optical properties, photoluminescence mechanism, and core structure. *Nanoscale*, 11(11), 4634–4652.
- Mooser, V., Helbecque, N., Miklossy, J., Marcovina, S. M., Nicod, P., & Amouyel, P. (2000). Interactions between apolipoprotein E and apolipoprotein (a) in patients with late-onset Alzheimer disease. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 132(7), 533–537.
- Nafees, S., Mehdi, S. H., Zafaryab, M., Zeya, B., Sarwar, T., & Rizvi, M. A. (2018). Synergistic Interaction of Rutin and Silibinin on Human Colon Cancer Cell Line. Archives of Medical Research, 49(4), 226–234.
- Näslund, J., Haroutunian, V., Mohs, R., Davis, K. L., Davies, P., Greengard, P., & Buxbaum, J. D. (2000). Correlation Between Elevated Levels of Amyloid β-Peptide in the Brain and Cognitive Decline. *JAMA*, 283(12), 1571–1577.
- Negahdari, R., Bohlouli, S., Sharifi, S., Maleki Dizaj, S., Rahbar Saadat, Y., Khezri, K., Jafari, S., Ahmadian, E., Gorbani Jahandizi, N., & Raeesi, S. (2021). Therapeutic benefits of rutin and its nanoformulations. *Phytotherapy Research*, 35(4), 1719–1738.
- Ngandu, T., Lehtisalo, J., Solomon, A., Levälahti, E., Ahtiluoto, S., Antikainen, R., Bäckman, L., Hänninen, T., Jula, A., Laatikainen, T., Lindström, J., Mangialasche, F., Paajanen, T., Pajala, S., Peltonen, M., Rauramaa, R., Stigsdotter-Neely, A., Strandberg, T., Tuomilehto, J., Kivipelto, M. (2015). A 2 year multidomain intervention of diet, exercise, cognitive training, and vascular risk

monitoring versus control to prevent cognitive decline in at-risk elderly people (FINGER): a randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet*, *385*(9984), 2255–2263.

- Nieoczym, D., Socała, K., Raszewski, G., & Wlaź, P. (2014). Effect of quercetin and rutin in some acute seizure models in mice. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 54, 50–58.
- Niu, Y., Tan, H., Li, X., Zhao, L., Xie, Z., Zhang, Y., Zhou, S., & Qu, X. (2020). Protein-Carbon Dot Nanohybrid-Based Early Blood-Brain Barrier Damage Theranostics. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 12(3), 3445–3452.
- Nones, J., Costa, A. P., Leal, R. B., Gomes, F. C. A., & Trentin, A. G. (2012). The flavonoids hesperidin and rutin promote neural crest cell survival. *Cell and Tissue Research*, *350*(2), 305–315.
- Nordberg, A., & Svensson, A. L. (1998). Cholinesterase inhibitors in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. A comparison of tolerability and pharmacology. *Drug Safety*, 19(6), 465–480.
- Nosrati, H., Tarantash, M., Bochani, S., Charmi, J., Bagheri, Z., Fridoni, M., Abdollahifar, M. A., Davaran, S., Danafar, H., & Kheiri Manjili, H. (2019). Glutathione (GSH) Peptide Conjugated Magnetic Nanoparticles As Blood-Brain Barrier Shuttle for MRI-Monitored Brain Delivery of Paclitaxel. ACS Biomaterials Science and Engineering, 5(4), 1677–1685.
- Oates, P. J., & Hakkinen, J. P. (1988). Studies on the mechanism of ethanol-induced gastric damage in rats. *Gastroenterology*, 94(1), 10–21.
- Organization, W. H. (2019). Risk reduction of cognitive decline and dementia: WHO guidelines.
- Ortolani, O., Caggiano, M., Mannelli, R., Gogliettino, A., & Tufano, R. (1995). Protection from ischemia-reperfusion damage in patients with stroke: The role of rutin and GSH. *Transplantation Proceedings*, *27*(5), 2877–2878.
- Ostrakhovitch, E. A., & Afanas'ev, I. B. (2001). Oxidative stress in rheumatoid arthritis leukocytes: suppression by rutin and other antioxidants and chelators. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 62(6), 743–746.
- Panhwar, Q. K., & Memon, S. (2014). Synthesis, characterisation, and antioxidant study of Cr(III)-rutin complex. *Chemical Papers*, 68(5), 614–623.
- Panula, P., Sallinen, V., Sundvik, M., Kolehmainen, J., Torkko, V., Tiittula, A., Moshnyakov, M., & Podlasz, P. (2006). Modulatory neurotransmitter systems and behavior: towards zebrafish models of neurodegenerative diseases. *Zebrafish*, 3(2), 235–247.
- Parhizkar, S., Arzberger, T., Brendel, M., Kleinberger, G., Deussing, M., Focke, C., Nuscher, B., Xiong, M., Ghasemigharagoz, A., Katzmarski, N., Krasemann, S., Lichtenthaler, S. F., Müller, S. A., Colombo, A., Monasor, L. S., Tahirovic, S., Herms, J., Willem, M., Pettkus, N., Haass, C. (2019). Loss of TREM2 function increases amyloid seeding but reduces plaque-associated ApoE. *Nature Neuroscience 2019 22:2*, 22(2), 191–204.

- Park, J., Wetzel, I., Marriott, I., Dréau, D., D'Avanzo, C., Kim, D. Y., Tanzi, R. E., & Cho, H. (2018).
 A 3D human triculture system modeling neurodegeneration and neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease. *Nature Neuroscience 2018 21:7*, 21(7), 941–951.
- Pihan, G., Regillo, C., & Szabo, S. (1987). Free radicals and lipid peroxidation in ethanol- or aspirininduced gastric mucosal injury. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*, *32*(12), 1395–1401.
- Plog, B. A., & Nedergaard, M. (2018). The Glymphatic System in Central Nervous System Health and Disease: Past, Present, and Future, *13*, 379–394.
- Poorkaj, P., Bird, T. D., Wijsman, E., Nemens, E., Garruto, R. M., Anderson, L., Andreadis, A., Wiederholt, W. C., Raskind, M., & Schellenberg, G. D. (1998). Tau is a candidate gene for chromosome 17 frontotemporal dementia. *Annals of Neurology*, 43(6), 815–825.
- Prince, M., Comas-Herrera, A., Knapp, M., Guerchet, M., & Karagiannidou, M. (2016). World Alzheimer Report 2016 Improving healthcare for people living with dementia coverage, Quality and costs now and In the future.
- Pu, F., Mishima, K., Irie, K., Motohashi, K., Tanaka, Y., Orito, K., Egawa, T., Kitamura, Y., Egashira, N., Iwasaki, K., & Fujiwara, M. (2007). Neuroprotective Effects of Quercetin and Rutin on Spatial Memory Impairment in an 8-Arm Radial Maze Task and Neuronal Death Induced by Repeated Cerebral Ischemia in Rats. *Journal of Pharmacological Sciences*, 104(4), 329–334.
- Rates, S. M. K. (2001). Plants as source of drugs. *Toxicon*, 39(5), 603–613.
- Ridge, P. G., Mukherjee, S., Crane, P. K., & Kauwe, J. S. K. (2013). Alzheimer's Disease: Analysing the Missing Heritability. *PLOS ONE*, 8(11), e79771.
- Rogers, J., Kirby, L. C., Hempelman, S. R., Berry, D. L., McGeer, P. L., Kaszniak, A. W., Zalinski, J., Cofield, M., Mansukhani, L., Willson, P., & Kogan, F. (1993). Clinical trial of indomethacin in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, 43(8), 1609–1609.
- Rogers, S. L., Doody, R. S., Mohs, R. C., & Friedhoff, L. T. (1998). Donepezil Improves Cognition and Global Function in Alzheimer Disease: A 15-Week, Double-blind, Placebo-Controlled Study. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 158(9), 1021–1031.
- Rösler, M., Bayer, T., Anand, R., Cicin-Sain, A., Gauthier, S., Agid, Y., Dal-Bianco, P., Stähelin, H. B., Hartman, R., & Gharabawi, M. (1999). Efficacy and safety of rivastigmine in patients with Alzheimer's disease: international randomised controlled trial Commentary: Another piece of the Alzheimer's jigsaw. *BMJ*, 318(7184), 633–640.
- Ryman, D. C., Acosta-Baena, N., Aisen, P. S., Bird, T., Danek, A., Fox, N. C., Goate, A., Frommelt, P., Ghetti, B., Langbaum, J. B. S., Lopera, F., Martins, R., Masters, C. L., Mayeux, R. P., McDade, E., Moreno, S., Reiman, E. M., Ringman, J. M., Salloway, S. (2014). Symptom onset in autosomal dominant Alzheimer disease. *Neurology*, 83(3), 253.
- Sarrazin, J. L., Bonneville, F., & Martin-Blondel, G. (2012). Brain infections. *Diagnostic and Interventional Imaging*, 93(6), 473–490.

- Schachter, A. S., & Davis, K. L. (2000). Alzheimer's disease. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 2(2), 91–100.
- Schachter, A. S., & Davis, K. L. (2022). Alzheimer's disease., 2(2), 91-100.
- Scharf, S., Mander, A., Ugoni, A., Vajda, F., & Christophidis, N. (1999). A double-blind, placebocontrolled trial of diclofenac/misoprostol in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, 53(1), 197–197.
- Scheltens, P., De Strooper, B., Kivipelto, M., Holstege, H., Chételat, G., Teunissen, C. E., Cummings, J., & van der Flier, W. M. (2021). Alzheimer's disease. *The Lancet*, 397(10284), 1577–1590.
- Schuller, S., Le Garrérès, A., Remy, I., & Peeters, D. (2011). Idiopathic chylothorax and lymphedema in 2 whippet littermates. *Canadian Veterinary Journal*, *52*(11), 1243–1245.
- Selkoe, D. J., & Hardy, J. (2016). The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease at 25 years. EMBO Molecular Medicine, 8(6), 595–608.
- Seven, E. S., Sharma, S. K., Meziane, Di., Zhou, Y., Mintz, K. J., Pandey, R. R., Chusuei, C. C., & Leblanc, R. M. (2019). Close-Packed Langmuir Monolayers of Saccharide-Based Carbon Dots at the Air-Subphase Interface. *Langmuir : The ACS Journal of Surfaces and Colloids*, 35(20).
- Seven, E. S., Zhou, Y., Seven, Y. B., Mitchell, G. S., & Leblanc, R. M. (2019). Crossing Blood-Brain Barrier with Carbon Quantum Dots. *The FASEB Journal*, *33*(S1), 785.8-785.8.
- Sharma, V., Tiwari, P., & Mobin, S. M. (2017). Sustainable carbon-dots: recent advances in green carbon dots for sensing and bioimaging. *Journal of Materials Chemistry B*, 5(45), 8904–8924.
- Shen, S., Wang, J., Wu, Z., Du, Z., Tang, Z., & Yang, J. (2020). Graphene Quantum Dots with High Yield and High Quality Synthesized from Low Cost Precursor of Aphanitic Graphite. *Nanomaterials (Basel, Switzerland)*, *10*(2).
- Shi, X., Meng, H., Sun, Y., Qu, L., Lin, Y., Li, Z., & Du, D. (2019). Far-Red to Near-Infrared Carbon Dots: Preparation and Applications in Biotechnology. *Small (Weinheim an Der Bergstrasse, Germany)*, 15(48).
- Simonyi, A., Chen, Z., Jiang, J., Zong, Y., Chuang, D. Y., Gu, Z., Lu, C. H., Fritsche, K. L., Greenlief, C. M., Rottinghaus, G. E., Thomas, A. L., Lubahn, D. B., & Sun, G. Y. (2015). Inhibition of microglial activation by elderberry extracts and its phenolic components. *Life Sciences*, 128, 30– 38.
- Small, G. W., Rabins, P. V., Barry, P. P., Buckholtz, N. S., DeKosky, S. T., Ferris, S. H., Finkel, S. I., Gwyther, L. P., Khachaturian, Z. S., Lebowitz, B. D., McRae, T. D., Morris, J. C., Oakley, F., Schneider, L. S., Streim, J. E., Sunderland, T., Teri, L. A., & Tune, L. E. (1997). Diagnosis and Treatment of Alzheimer Disease and Related Disorders: Consensus Statement of the American Association for Geriatric Psychiatry, the Alzheimer's Association, and the American Geriatrics Society. *JAMA*, 278(16), 1363–1371.
- Solomon, A., Turunen, H., Ngandu, T., Peltonen, M., Levälahti, E., Helisalmi, S., Antikainen, R., Bäckman, L., Hänninen, T., Jula, A., Laatikainen, T., Lehtisalo, J., Lindström, J., Paajanen, T.,

Pajala, S., Stigsdotter-Neely, A., Strandberg, T., Tuomilehto, J., Soininen, H., & Kivipelto, M. (2018). Effect of the apolipoprotein e genotype on cognitive change during a multidomain lifestyle intervention a subgroup analysis of a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Neurology*, *75*(4), 462–470.

- Srinivasan, K., Kaul, C. L., & Ramarao, P. (2005). Partial protective effect of rutin on multiple low dose streptozotocin-induced diabetes in mice [2]. *Indian Journal of Pharmacology*, 37(5), 327– 328.
- Stewart, W. F., Kawas, C., Corrada, M., & Metter, E. J. (1997). Risk of Alzheimer's disease and duration of NSAID use. *Neurology*, 48(3), 626–632.
- Sun, Z., Chen, Z., Luo, J., Zhu, Z., Zhang, X., Liu, R., & Wu, Z. chao. (2020). A yellow-emitting nitrogen-doped carbon dots for sensing of vitamin B12 and their cell-imaging. *Dyes and Pigments*, 176, 108227.
- Sweeney, M. D., Montagne, A., Sagare, A. P., Nation, D. A., Schneider, L. S., Chui, H. C., Harrington, M. G., Pa, J., Law, M., Wang, D. J. J., Jacobs, R. E., Doubal, F. N., Ramirez, J., Black, S. E., Nedergaard, M., Benveniste, H., Dichgans, M., Iadecola, C., Love, S., Zlokovic, B. V. (2019). Vascular dysfunction—The disregarded partner of Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, *15*(1), 158–167.
- Sweeney, M. D., Sagare, A. P., & Zlokovic, B. V. (2018). Blood–brain barrier breakdown in Alzheimer disease and other neurodegenerative disorders. *Nature Reviews Neurology 2018 14:3*, 14(3), 133– 150.
- Szabo, S., & Goldberg, I. (2009). Experimental Pathogenesis: Drugs and Chemical Lesions in the Gastric Mucosa., 25(S174), 1–8.
- Szaruga, M., Munteanu, B., Lismont, S., Hopf, C., De Strooper, B., Veugelen, S., Horré, K., Mercken, M., Saido, T. C., Ryan, N. S., De Vos, T., Savvides, S. N., Gallardo, R., Schymkowitz, J., Rousseau, F., Fox, N. C., & Chá Vez-Gutié Rrez, L. (2017). Alzheimer's-causing mutations shift Aβ length by destabilizing γ-secretase-Aβ interactions. *Cell.Com*, *170*, 443–456.
- Szelenyi, I., & Brune, K. (1988). Possible role of oxygen free radicals in ethanol-induced gastric mucosal damage in rats. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*, 33(7), 865–871.
- Tajik, S., Dourandish, Z., Zhang, K., Beitollahi, H., Le, Q. Van, Jang, H. W., & Shokouhimehr, M. (2020). Carbon and graphene quantum dots: a review on syntheses, characterization, biological and sensing applications for neurotransmitter determination. *RSC Advances*, 10(26), 15406– 15429.
- Takeuchi, Hiroki & Iba, Michiyo & Inoue, Haruhisa & Higuchi, Makoto & Takao, Keizo & Tsukita, Kayoko & Karatsu, Yoshiko & Iwamoto, Yumiko & Miyakawa, Tsuyoshi & Suhara, Tetsuya & Trojanowski, John & Lee, Virginia & Takahashi, Ryosuke. (2011). P301S Mutant Human Tau Transgenic Mice Manifest Early Symptoms of Human Tauopathies with Dementia and Altered Sensorimotor Gating.

- Tejwan, N., Kundu, M., Ghosh, N., Chatterjee, S., Sharma, A., Abhishek Singh, T., Das, J., & Sil, P. C. (2022). Synthesis of green carbon dots as bioimaging agent and drug delivery system for enhanced antioxidant and antibacterial efficacy. *Inorganic Chemistry Communications*, 139, 109317.
- Tejwan, N., Saha, S. K., & Das, J. (2020). Multifaceted applications of green carbon dots synthesized from renewable sources. *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science*, 275.
- Tejwan, N., Saini, A. K., Sharma, A., Singh, T. A., Kumar, N., & Das, J. (2021). Metal-doped and hybrid carbon dots: A comprehensive review on their synthesis and biomedical applications. *Journal of Controlled Release : Official Journal of the Controlled Release Society*, 330, 132–150.
- Thakur, N., Manna, P., & Das, J. (2019). Synthesis and biomedical applications of nanoceria, a redox active nanoparticle. *Journal of Nanobiotechnology 2019 17:1, 17*(1), 1–27.
- Tongjaroenbuangam, W., Ruksee, N., Chantiratikul, P., Pakdeenarong, N., Kongbuntad, W., & Govitrapong, P. (2011). Neuroprotective effects of quercetin, rutin and okra (Abelmoschus esculentus Linn.) in dexamethasone-treated mice. *Neurochemistry International*, 59(5), 677–685.
- Ugusman, A., Zakaria, Z., Chua, K. H., Megat Mohd Nordin, N. A., & Abdullah Mahdy, Z. (2014). Role of rutin on nitric oxide synthesis in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Scientific World Journal*, 2014.
- Van Maurik, I. S., Slot, R. E. R., Verfaillie, S. C. J., Zwan, M. D., Bouwman, F. H., Prins, N. D., Teunissen, C. E., Scheltens, P., Barkhof, F., Wattjes, M. P., Molinuevo, J. L., Rami, L., Wolfsgruber, S., Peters, O., Jessen, F., Berkhof, J., & Van Der Flier, W. M. (2019). Personalized risk for clinical progression in cognitively normal subjects - The ABIDE project. *Alzheimer's Research and Therapy*, 11(1), 1–9.
- van Maurik, I. S., Visser, L. N. C., Pel-Littel, R. E., van Buchem, M. M., Zwan, M. D., Kunneman, M., Pelkmans, W., Bouwman, F. H., Minkman, M., Schoonenboom, N., Scheltens, P., Smets, E. M. A., & van der Flier, W. M. (2019). Development and Usability of ADappt: Web-Based Tool to Support Clinicians, Patients, and Caregivers in the Diagnosis of Mild Cognitive Impairment and Alzheimer Disease. *JMIR Form Res* 2019;3(3):E13417
- Venegas, C., Kumar, S., Franklin, B. S., Dierkes, T., Brinkschulte, R., Tejera, D., Vieira-Saecker, A., Schwartz, S., Santarelli, F., Kummer, M. P., Griep, A., Gelpi, E., Beilharz, M., Riedel, D., Golenbock, D. T., Geyer, M., Walter, J., Latz, E., & Heneka, M. T. (2017). Microglia-derived ASC specks cross-seed amyloid-β in Alzheimer's disease. *Nature 2017 552:7685*, *552*(7685), 355–361.
- Verghese, P. B., Castellano, J. M., & Holtzman, D. M. (2011). Apolipoprotein E in Alzheimer's disease and other neurological disorders. *The Lancet Neurology*, 10(3), 241–252.
- Visser, L. N. C., van Maurik, I. S., Bouwman, F. H., Staekenborg, S., Vreeswijk, R., Hempenius, L., de Beer, M. H., Roks, G., Boelaarts, L., Kleijer, M., van der Flier, W. M., & Smets, E. M. A. (2020). Clinicians' communication with patients receiving a MCI diagnosis: The ABIDE project. *PLOS ONE*, 15(1), e0227282.
- Wang, H., Wu, X., Dong, W., Lee, S. L., Yuan, Q., & Gan, W. (2020). One-step preparation of singlelayered graphene quantum dots for the detection of Fe3. Spectrochimica Acta. Part A, Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy, 226.
- Wang, R., Sun, Y., Huang, H. (2015). Rutin, A Natural Flavonoid Protects PC12 Cells Against Sodium Nitroprusside-Induced Neurotoxicity Through Activating PI3K/Akt/mTOR and ERK1/2 Pathway. *Neurochem Res* 40, 1945–1953.
- Wang, S., Li, C., Qian, M., Jiang, H., Shi, W., Chen, J., Lächelt, U., Wagner, E., Lu, W., Wang, Y., & Huang, R. (2017). Augmented glioma-targeted theranostics using multifunctional polymer-coated carbon nanodots. *Biomaterials*, 141, 29–39.
- Wang, X., Qu, K., Xu, B., Ren, J., & Qu, X. (2011). Microwave assisted one-step green synthesis of cell-permeable multicolor photoluminescent carbon dots without surface passivation reagents. *Journal of Materials Chemistry*, 21(8), 2445–2450.
- Williamson, J. D., Pajewski, N. M., Auchus, A. P., Bryan, R. N., Chelune, G., Cheung, A. K., Cleveland, M. L., Coker, L. H., Crowe, M. G., Cushman, W. C., Cutler, J. A., Davatzikos, C., Desiderio, L., Erus, G., Fine, L. J., Gaussoin, S. A., Harris, D., Hsieh, M. K., Johnson, K. C., Wright, C. B. (2019). Effect of Intensive vs Standard Blood Pressure Control on Probable Dementia: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA Journal of the American Medical Association*, 321(6), 553–561.
- Xia, C., Zhu, S., Feng, T., Yang, M., & Yang, B. (2019). Evolution and Synthesis of Carbon Dots: From Carbon Dots to Carbonized Polymer Dots. Advanced Science (Weinheim, Baden-Wurttemberg, Germany), 6(23).
- Xu, Y. long, Bai, R. biao, Qi, C. yu, Ren, Z., Jia, X. zhi, Kan, Z. gui, Li, C. long, & Wang, F. (2019). Fluorescence "Off-On" Probe for L-Cysteine Detection Based on Nitrogen Doped Carbon Dots. *Journal of Fluorescence*, 29(4), 819–825.
- Yang, G., Zhou, R., Zhou, Q., Guo, X., Yan, C., Ke, M., Lei, J., & Shi, Y. (2018). Structural basis of Notch recognition by human γ-secretase. *Nature 2018* 565:7738, 565(7738), 192–197.
- Yang, S. T., Cao, L., Luo, P. G., Lu, F., Wang, X., Wang, H., Meziani, M. J., Liu, Y., Qi, G., & Sun, Y. P. (2009). Carbon dots for optical imaging *in vivo*. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, *131*(32), 11308–11309.
- Yang, S. T., Wang, X., Wang, H., Lu, F., Luo, P. G., Cao, L., Meziani, M. J., Liu, J. H., Liu, Y., Chen, M., Huang, Y., & Sun, Y. P. (2009). Carbon Dots as Nontoxic and High-Performance Fluorescence Imaging Agents. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry. C, Nanomaterials and Interfaces*, 113(42), 18110–18114.
- Yang, X., Wang, Y., Shen, X., Su, C., Yang, J., Piao, M., Jia, F., Gao, G., Zhang, L., & Lin, Q. (2017). One-step synthesis of photoluminescent carbon dots with excitation-independent emission for selective bioimaging and gene delivery. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, 492, 1–7.

- Yeh, F. L., Wang, Y., Tom, I., Gonzalez, L. C., & Sheng, M. (2016). TREM2 Binds to Apolipoproteins, Including APOE and CLU/APOJ, and Thereby Facilitates Uptake of Amyloid-Beta by Microglia. *Neuron*, 91(2), 328–340.
- Yu, X. L., Li, Y. N., Zhang, H., Su, Y. J., Zhou, W. W., Zhang, Z. P., Wang, S. W., Xu, P. X., Wang, Y. J., & Liu, R. T. (2015). Rutin inhibits amylin-induced neurotoxicity and oxidative stress. Food and Function, 6(10), 3296–3306.
- Zhang, R., Xue, G., Wang, S., Zhang, L., Shi, C., & Xie, X. (2012). Novel object recognition as a facile behavior test for evaluating drug effects in AβPP/PS1 Alzheimer's disease mouse model. *Journal* of Alzheimer's disease: JAD, 31(4), 801–812.
- Zhao, P., Li, X., Baryshnikov, G., Wu, B., Ågren, H., Zhang, J., & Zhu, L. (2017). One-step solvothermal synthesis of high-emissive amphiphilic carbon dots via rigidity derivation. *Chemical Science*, *9*(5), 1323–1329.
- Zheng, P., & Wu, N. (2017). Fluorescence and Sensing Applications of Graphene Oxide and Graphene Quantum Dots: A Review. *Chemistry, an Asian Journal, 12*(18), 2343–2353.
- Zhou, J., Yang, Y., & Zhang, C. Y. (2013). A low-temperature solid-phase method to synthesize highly fluorescent carbon nitride dots with tunable emission. *Chemical Communications (Cambridge, England)*, 49(77), 8605–8607.
- Zhou, M., Zhou, Z., Gong, A., Zhang, Y., & Li, Q. (2015). Synthesis of highly photoluminescent carbon dots via citric acid and Tris for iron(III) ions sensors and bioimaging. *Talanta*, *143*, 107–113.
- Zhou, R., Yang, G., Guo, X., Zhou, Q., Lei, J., & Shi, Y. (2019). Recognition of the amyloid precursor protein by human g-secretase. *Science*, *363*(6428).
- Zhou, Y., Liyanage, P. Y., Devadoss, D., Rios Guevara, L. R., Cheng, L., Graham, R. M., Chand, H. S., Al-Youbi, A. O., Bashammakh, A. S., El-Shahawi, M. S., & Leblanc, R. M. (2019). Nontoxic amphiphilic carbon dots as promising drug nanocarriers across the blood-brain barrier and inhibitors of β-amyloid. *Nanoscale*, 11(46), 22387–22397.
- Zhou, Y., Mintz, K. J., Cheng, L., Chen, J., Ferreira, B. C. L. B., Hettiarachchi, S. D., Liyanage, P. Y., Seven, E. S., Miloserdov, N., Pandey, R. R., Quiroga, B., Blackwelder, P. L., Chusuei, C. C., Li, S., Peng, Z., & Leblanc, R. M. (2020). Direct conjugation of distinct carbon dots as Lego-like building blocks for the assembly of versatile drug nanocarriers. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, 576, 412–425.
- Zhou, Y., Mintz, K. J., Oztan, C. Y., Hettiarachchi, S. D., Peng, Z., Seven, E. S., Liyanage, P. Y., De La Torre, S., Celik, E., & Leblanc, R. M. (2018). Embedding Carbon Dots in Superabsorbent Polymers for Additive Manufacturing. *Polymers*, *10*(8).
- Zhou, Y., Peng, Z., Seven, E. S., & Leblanc, R. M. (2018). Crossing the blood-brain barrier with nanoparticles. *Journal of Controlled Release : Official Journal of the Controlled Release Society*, 270, 290–303.

- Zhu, H., Wang, X., Li, Y., Wang, Z., Yang, F., & Yang, X. (2009). Microwave synthesis of fluorescent carbon nanoparticles with electrochemiluminescence properties. *Chemical Communications* (*Cambridge, England*), *34*, 5118–5120.
- Zhu, S., Song, Y., Zhao, X., Shao, J., Zhang, J., & Yang, B. (2015). The photoluminescence mechanism in carbon dots (graphene quantum dots, carbon nanodots, and polymer dots): current state and future perspective. *Nano Research 2014 8:2*, 8(2), 355–381.



20080711 Publication



Armand S. Schachter, Kenneth L. Davis. "Alzheimer's disease", Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience, 2022 Publication



Tarek M. K. Motawi, Zeinab M. Abdel-Nasser, Nancy N. Shahin. "Ameliorative Effect of Necrosulfonamide in a Rat Model of Alzheimer's Disease: Targeting Mixed Lineage Kinase Domain-like Protein-Mediated Necroptosis", ACS Chemical Neuroscience, 2020 Publication



<1%

